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To influence Pacific Islanders 
through the pursuit of excellence 
in knowledge by providing world-
class education and research that 
improves the lives of individuals 

and communities

Our Mission

To shape Pacific futures by 
empowering students, staff and 
alumni to become inspirational 

agents of positive change leading 
to innovative, cohesive, resilient 
and sustainable communities

Our Vision

Our Pacific Values of inclusive 
family, participatory and open 

dialogue guides everything we do

Ethics and Accountability 
We will uphold the highest ethical standards 
and operate with integrity. We are committed 

to fostering a culture of transparency and 
accountability ensuring that we uphold high 

academic and professional standards.

Excellence and Creativity 
We will embody excellence, inspiring students 

and staff to embrace innovative solutions for the 
benefit of our communities.

Respect and Inclusivity 
We will honour our Pacific heritage and traditions 

as well as respect, recognise and celebrate the 
diversity of our students and staff, ensuring that 
there are equal opportunities for all through an 

inclusive culture.

Supporting our People 
The safety, wellbeing and needs of our students 

and staff are paramount and fundamental to our 
success. We are committed to ensuring that our 

students and staff achieve their potential to shape 
better Pacific futures.

Our Values
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USP Graduate Attributes

USP Staff Attributes

The University of the South Pacific’s academic programmes will promote the 
development of the following attributes in all graduates:

Academic Excellence
•  Extensive knowledge of and relevant skills in a particular discipline or professional 

area;
•  Capacity for critical thinking and independent self-directed, life-long learning;
•  Digital literacy and advanced information and communication technology 

knowledge and skills; and
•  Problem solving and research skills.

Intellectual Curiosity and Integrity
•  Deep respect for truth and intellectual integrity, and for the ethics of scholarship;
•  Intellectual curiosity, creativity, entrepreneurship, innovative and openness to new 

ideas;
•  Commitment to inter-disciplinary understanding and skills; and
•  Respect for the principles, values and ethics of a chosen profession.
 
Capacity for Leadership and Working with Others
•  Effective interpersonal communications skills;
•  Resilient, adaptable and be empathetic;
•  A commitment to gender equality and social inclusion;
•  Leadership, organisational, teamwork and time management abilities; and
•  Personal maturity and self-confidence.

Appreciation	of	the	Cultures	of	the	Pacific	Islands
•  Knowledge and appreciation the unity and diversity of Pacific Island cultures;
•  Understanding of the diverse economies and environments of the Pacific Islands; 

and
•  Commitment to the maintenance and strengthening of the societies of the Pacific.

Cross-cultural Competencies
•  Understanding and appreciation of social, cultural, and linguistic diversity;
•  Respect for human rights and dignity in a global context;
•  Commitment to accountability, ethical practice and social responsibility; and
•  Demonstrated oral and written proficiency in the English language.

The commitment of USP’s staff to the Vision, Mission and Values of the University is
embedded in the following attributes:

•  Commitment and loyalty to the 
institution and its mission;

•  Honesty and integrity in personal and 
professional interactions in the work 
environment, including the highest 
standards of academic conduct;

•  Strong student-centred approach to 
learning and teaching;

•  Highest standards of creativity, 
innovation, teamwork, cooperation 
and flexibility in the pursuit of 
excellence;

•  Respect for the distinctiveness and 
diversity of our Pacific heritage and 
dedication towards its development, 
preservation and dissemination;

•  Responsible attitude towards a healthy 
work-life balance;

•  Positive and proactive stance towards 
customer service;

•  Respectful and ethical behaviour; and
•  Collegial and co-operative attitude 

that contributes towards building a 
more cohesive university community.
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PI am delighted to introduce The University 
of the South Pacific (USP) Annual Report, a 

comprehensive record of achievements for 
2021. The year offered a dynamic set of challenges 

which the University met with distinctive 
tenacity, having demonstrated its resourcefulness, 

resilience and strong determination to serve and 
shape the Pacific region.

I wish to offer my gratitude and appreciation to the 
University Council for its leadership and my predecessor, 

Mr. Winston Thompson for his long-standing dedication 
and commitment to the Pacific region and with the 
University. At the end of 2021, Mr. Thompson completed 

Pro-Chancellor 
and Chair of 
Council
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his term having served the University for 
six years. It is an honour and privilege 
to serve as Pro-Chancellor and to work 
alongside the Vice-Chancellor, Professor 
Pal Ahluwalia, in shaping Pacific futures.

Despite the difficulties of operating in a 
COVID-19 environment, the University’s 
excellent research performance was 
recognised through the University 
entering into global rankings placing 
in the top ten percent in Times Higher 
Education (THE) World Universities 
Rankings. In addition, USP came 11th in 
the category of Crisis Management in the 
World Universities Real Impact (WURI) 
Rankings. This is a great testament of the 
persistent and enduring nature of our 
regional university.

As we contend with a pandemic that 
continues to have a substantial impact 
on our business continuity and the 
people we serve, the University has had 
to manoeuvre teaching and learning 
seamlessly to online remote delivery, 
adapted its workforce to national 
COVID-19 protocols and executed 
extraordinary efforts to ensure the health 
and safety of staff and students across 
the region as a matter of priority. 

In October, Niue Campus conducted 
its graduation ceremony and through 
virtual livestream, the region witnessed 
the installation of the 28th Chancellor 
for the University, the Niue Premier, the 
Honourable Dalton Emani Makamau 

Tagelagi. Graduations were held in 
Samoa in April, Vanuatu in May, Solomon 
Islands in October and Cook Islands 
in November. These graduations were 
conducted through virtual means, with 
the assistance of local Council members 
and dignitaries in our member countries. 
Regrettably, ceremonies in Fiji were 
cancelled due to the rise of the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Our students, staff and communities 
have shown resilience and agility in 

responding to this extraordinary year. 
Let us continue to work together to 
strengthen our mission and uphold 
good governance to position USP 

strategically to achieve its vision and 
educating the peoples of our region.

We take great pleasure in sharing our 
successes with you as outlined in this 
2021 USP Annual Report.

I would like to offer my sincere thanks to 
all Council members, the Vice-Chancellor 
and President, the Senior Management 
Team and staff and students across 
all campuses, development partners, 
alumni, communities and supporters 
for their support and determination to 
fulfiling the mission of the university. 

Together, we will continue to strive to 
shape Pacific futures.

Hilda C. Heine, Ed.D.
Pro-Chancellor and Chair of Council
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Vice-Chancellor 
and President’s 

ReportVIntroduction 
 

The 2021 Annual Report highlights key 
milestones achieved during the year by the 

University of the South Pacific (USP) and reflects 
how we navigated the challenges brought by 

COVID-19 and other constraints. 
 

The past year has been a most challenging and 
demanding one for the USP community. Two events 

have largely shaped the year, first the pandemic, and 
second my “Gestapo-like” deportation in February 2021. 
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Nevertheless, USP remained steadfast in 
overcoming these challenges whilst being 
resolute on delivering USP’s core mandate 
of providing quality education to our 
students while Shaping Pacific Futures. 
Also of significance is the withholding 
of grant monies by the Fiji Government, 
which remains as an ongoing challenge 
that is yet to be resolved.

From February 5 to August 9, 2021, until I 
resumed my position at the helm of the 
University, Dr. Giulio Paunga acted as the 
Vice-Chancellor and President. During 
that time, he along with the Senior 
Management Team (SMT), staff and 
students, ensured that the University’s 
core business continued with minimum 
disruption. It would be remiss of me to 
not thank Dr Paunga, the SMT and our 
key stakeholders for ensuring that USP 
was managed in a robust manner and for 
their unwavering support. 
 
This was also the year where the Council, 
under the outstanding leadership of the 
outgoing Chancellor, His Excellency, the 
Honourable Lionel Aingimea, played 
an influential role in shepherding the 
University through its governance 
crisis. His Excellency along with Council 
members worked collectively to ensure 
the University’s governance and future 
sustainability remained intact. 
 
I wish to acknowledge the longstanding 
service of Mr. Winston Thompson who 
served the University for six years as the 
Pro-Chancellor and Chair of Council. The 
Council in its 92nd Meeting in November 
2021, unanimously appointed the 
Honourable Dr. Hilda Heine as the new 
Pro-Chancellor and Chair to the Council. 
She brings a wealth of experience and 
inspired leadership, and we look forward 
to working with her over the next few 
years.  
 
The University Management presented 
its Triennial Submission for 2022-2024 

to the University Grants Committee 
(UGC). A total of six (6) Commendations 
and sixteen (16) Recommendations 
were received from the UGC with high 
accolades for attaining world rankings in 
the Times Higher Education (THE) World 
University Rankings, its holistic approach 
to COVID-19, and its diligent budget 
controls amidst the pandemic. The UGC 
also acknowledged the formulation of 
the Student Charter and the focus on 
improved student experience in the 
new Strategic Plan for 2022 to 2024. The 
Council approved the refreshed Strategic 
Plan which revitalises our Priority Areas 
for the next three years, which has been 
set against the impetus provided by 
COVID-19, trends in higher education and 
USP’s aspirations over the period. 

Key Achievements In 2021 

University Reorganisation 

The year began with an ambitious 
restructure of the University where 
the three (3) faculties and twenty-
six (26) schools were reorganised and 
amalgamated into six schools for closer 
interface with the teaching coalface. 
The reorganisation was designed to be 
cost-effective exercise to gain improved 
efficiencies in streamlining our resources 
and processes in response to the 
pandemic and funding challenges, while 
further enhancing an exemplary student 
experience. It is pleasing to report that 
this has achieved over $15m in savings. 

Education

USP navigated its Learning and 
Teaching challenges through the 
quick mobilization of the Learning and 
Teaching Continuity Team (LTCT), chaired 
by the Acting Deputy Vice-Chancellor and 
Vice-President Education, Professor Jito 
Vanualailai. The LTCT brought together 
key representatives across the University 
to oversee a significant shift to virtual 
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teaching, as well as ensuring that requisite 
support was tailored and provided to 
students. The LTCT initiated services 
such as the toll-free USP Call Centre, the 
Offline Print Packs that enabled students 
to study with minimum internet access, 
free access to USP learning platforms 
via national internet providers, a laptop 
scheme offering subsidised laptops 
and the repurposing of Radio Pasifik for 
broader reach broadcasting.
 
Graduation and the Chancellor’s 
Installation 
 
In 2021, most campuses other than Fiji 
held graduations. Graduation ceremonies 
were held for Emalus Campus, Vanuatu 
on May 7, Samoa on April 30, Solomon 
Islands on October 29 and Cook Islands 
on November 19. On October 22, the USP 
community witnessed the live virtual 
installation of our new Chancellor the 
Niue Premier, Honourable Dalton Emani 
Makamau Tagelagi during the Niue 
Campus graduation ceremony. 

International Rankings 
 
The attainment of two international 
rankings was outstandingly significant 
for USP. Our successful management 
of the COVID-19 pandemic was formally 
recognised in June when USP ranked 
11th in the Top 50 Area Ranking for the 
category ‘Crisis Management’ by the 
World Universities Real Impact (WURI) 
Ranking. USP’s submission titled 
Continuity of Education Amidst COVID-19 
Pandemic demonstrated the University’s 
structured response to COVID-19 in 2020.  
 
USP was placed in one of the most 
prestigious rankings in the world, 
the Times Higher Education (THE) 
World University Ranking and was 
ranked amongst the top 10 percent 
of Universities in the World with high 
scores in International Outlook and 
Industry Income. USP is now amongst 

the top 400 universities of the world for 
International Outlook and the top 500 for 
Industry Income. THE also ranked USP in 
two subject rankings, placing USP in the 
601-800 in the subject area of Physical 
Sciences and Social Science saw us 
placed in 501-600. 

Research and Innovation 
 
USP produced an impressive record of 
317 research outputs of which 75% were 
journal articles, 5% book chapters and 
8% conference proceedings. Of the 238 
journal articles published, 19% are co-
authored solely by USP authors (including 
single authors) and 76% are co-authored 
with international researchers (77% in 
2020). 

Regional Campuses 
 
Regional campuses offer students 
the opportunity to study in their own 
country, making tertiary study even 
more accessible and affordable. Overall, 
enrolments by regional students 
continued to grow in 2021, accounting 
for around 40% of total EFTS and 49% 
headcount of total enrolments. USP 
remains dedicated to ensuring a safe and 
secure environment amidst the COVID-19 
pandemic, complying with national 
health directives and observing required 
health protocols. 

International and Regional 
Cooperation

The University remains actively involved in 
regional and international organisations 
and development partners. As a member 
of the Council of Regional Organisations 
in the Pacific (CROP), USP participated in 
CROP Heads meetings throughout 2021 
discussing matters relating to Forum 
Leaders’ priorities including climate 
change and resilient development and 
actively participating in the development 
of the 2050 Strategy. As the Chair of the 
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CROP ICT Working Group, USP focused on 
issues of digital equity and opportunities 
to strengthen regional coordination and 
digital transformation. 

Governance and Intelligent Use 
of Resources

Throughout 2021, good governance 
remained a foundational pillar for 
USP. The University implemented 
the recommendations of the USP 
Commission and a suite of policy changes 
that were approved by the University’s 
governing body, the Council.

Stringent measures ensured financial 
stability for the University while being 
agile in the current environment. The 
financial performance of USP in 2021 was 
heavily impacted by COVID-19 and factors 
outside of the University’s control, such as 
the timing of receipts from development 
partners and the withholding of grant 
by Fiji. In light of this, USP management 
applied stringent measures to ensure 
prudent financial management, quality 
assurance and risk management.  

Our Focus In 2022 
 
In 2022, USP will begin to implement the refreshed Strategic Plan for 2022 to 2024, 
supported by the 2022 Annual Plan, with a key focus on enhancing student experience 
and delivering a truly transformative education.   
 
As we move into the next triennium, our attention remains on effectively addressing the 
needs of the region through education, enhanced research initiatives, consolidating 
our international reputation through improving global rankings and fostering 
regionalism through closer collaboration with development partners, CROP agencies 
and our communities. USP will initiate reforms for ‘right-sizing’ its campuses with a 
concerted effort towards engaging USP Alumni and growing a philanthropy culture. 
Good governance will remain fundamental to our operations.  
 
I would like to acknowledge our students, colleagues, member governments and 
stakeholders, whose support has enabled us to deliver our core mandate, achieve our 
goals and reach even further in ‘Shaping Pacific Futures’. Our achievements would 
not be possible without this commitment, professionalism, hard work and passion. 
 

Professor Pal Ahluwalia 
Vice-Chancellor and President 
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University 
Governance
The University of the South Pacific (USP) 
was established in 1968, enacted by a 
Royal Charter (Charter) granted by Her 
Majesty Queen Elizabeth II in 1970. It 
has twelve (12) member countries: Cook 
Islands, Republic of Kiribati, Republic of 
the Marshall Islands, Republic of Nauru, 
Niue, Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tuvalu, 
Kingdom of Tonga, Republic of Vanuatu, 
Samoa and Republic of Fiji. Its primary 
objective is to advance and disseminate 
knowledge by teaching, consultancy and 
research and innovation. USP’s primary 
mandate is to provide appropriate levels 
of education and training and to be 
responsive to the well-being and needs 
of the communities of the South Pacific.

The ceremonial head of the University 
is the Chancellor. USP’s Chancellors are 
Heads of State or Heads of Government 
of member countries. The University is 
governed by its own Council, chaired by 
the Pro-Chancellor, and comprised of the 
Vice-Chancellor and President, Deputy 
Pro-Chancellor, representatives of the 
twelve member countries, Australia and 
New Zealand representatives, Pacific 
Islands Forum Secretariat Secretary-
General, USP Senate representatives, 
staff and student representatives and co-
opted members. The executive head of 
the University is the Vice-Chancellor and 
President.
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USP is comprised of six (6) Schools 
and each School encapsulates various 
disciplines, which offer a wide range 
of academic programmes at the 
undergraduate and postgraduate levels. 
In addition, the Pacific Technical and 
Further Education (Pacific TAFE) provides 
pre-degree and skills-based programmes 
and study pathways.

Governance Framework
The Royal Charter and Statutes frame 
the governance structure of the 
University. The Charter incorporates the 
purpose, objective, and powers of USP. It 
establishes the Council as the governing 
body, the Senate as the academic 
authority and mandates the key Officers 
of USP including the Chancellor, Pro-
Chancellor and Chair of Council, Vice-
Chancellor and President, the Deputy 
Vice-Chancellors and Vice-Presidents.

The Statutes supplement the Charter 
and prescribes the powers and functions 
of the Council, Senate and the Officers 
of USP. The USP Convention is the 
agreement between the University as a 
legal corporate entity and its member 
countries recognising the continued 
operation and further development 
of USP in each member country. The 
Convention, and any ancillary domestic 
legislation, supports the Royal Charter 
under which the University operates and 
also serves to consolidate the legal basis 
of its operations with and for the member 
countries, into the future.

The Council
The Council is responsible for the overall 
governance of the University and is 
committed to the sustainable success of 
USP and the highest standards of ethical 
conduct. The principal responsibilities of 
the Council include strategic oversight, 
effective overall management, and 
financial and risk management. The 
Council is required, when performing its 
functions, to fulfil various duties which 
include but are not limited to:

 • appointing Officers of the University;

 •  setting the strategic direction 
for USP and monitoring the 
implementation of strategic plans;

 •  overseeing the governance and 
management of the finances, 
investments, property, business and 
all affairs of the University;

 •  regularly assessing the performance 

of the Council itself and the Pro-
Chancellor, Vice-Chancellor and 
Chairs of Council committees; and

 •  ensuring that the University has in 
place appropriate risk management 
strategies and mechanisms.

Maintaining a safe, healthy and 
vibrant culture and environment for 
the University is a high priority for the 
Council. It oversees the University’s 
efforts to maximise the value it creates for 
stakeholders by ensuring its graduates 
are work-ready, its research delivers 
significant benefits to the communities, 
and the University contributes to a safe 
and healthy environment.

The Council meets at least twice yearly. 
The Council and the Senate are served 
by a network of committees who have 
specialised remit. These committees 
meet on a regular basis and report to 
each Council meeting. The following are 
three key committees of Council.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee exercises 
Council’s powers delegated to it 
and advises Council on governance 
matters, key operations, and financial 
matters. The objective of the Executive 
Committee is to act on behalf of the 
Council and provide continuity in 
between the two scheduled meetings of 
the Council per year. Delegated powers 
from Council include but are not limited 
to the appointment of the University 
Visitor, Auditor, Co-opted members to 
Council, as well as determining tuition 
fees and financial commitments. 
 
Finance and Resources Committee

The Finance and Resources Committee 
advises Council on matters concerning 
the University’s consolidated finances, 
fixed assets and proposed business 
ventures. The Committee reviews the 
financial performance of University 
and provides strategic advice on the 
University’s investments and investment 
performance. It is responsible for 
overseeing and monitoring the 
University’s financial portfolio; approval of 
financial policies; review of all significant 
financial proposals for Council’s 
consideration; and for ensuring financial 
sustainability. 

Audit and Risk Committee

In 2021, the Audit and Risk Committee 
held three (3) ordinary meetings in 2021. 
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The Audit and Risk Committee advises 
Council on the University’s accounting, 
control and reporting practices. The 
Committee considers external and 
internal audit reports and reviews 
internal audit practices. It monitors the 
performance and effectiveness of external 
and internal audits and ensures that the 
University’s processes and systems are 
audited prudently.

The Senate
The Senate is the principal academic 
authority at USP. It is responsible to the 
Council for maintaining the highest 
standards in teaching, learning and 
research. The responsibilities of the 
Senate include setting admission criteria 
for programmes and courses, approving 

and reviewing courses in terms of their 
academic quality, oversight of academic 
regulatory, approving and monitoring 
academic policies and upholding 
academic freedom and academic 
integrity.

The Chair of the Senate is the Vice-
Chancellor and President who reports 
to the Council on matters considered 
and resolved at the meetings of 
the Senate. The Senate has broad 
membership encompassing the heads 
of academic units, senior academics and 
representatives of staff and students. 

The Senate meets four times a year 
and reports to Council. The Senate is 
supported in its work by committees and 
working groups.
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University Governance Structure

KEY 
1. * Joint Committee of Council and Senate 
2. ** Senior Management Team (Advisory to Vice-Chancellor & President)
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Hon. Dalton Emani Makamau Tagelagi
ODILT FNU, LLB PDLP S.Pac

Chancellor

Hon. Dr. Hilda C. Heine Ed.D
Pro-Chancellor & Chair of Council

Professor Pal Ahluwalia
BA MA Sask., PhD Flin.

Vice-Chancellor & President

Principal 
Officers
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Professor Jito 
Vanualailai

BSc SPac., ME Ryukyus, PhD Kobe
Deputy Vice-Chancellor & Vice-
President (Education) - Acting

Dr Giulio Masasso
Tu’ikolongahau	Pāunga

BA Wesleyan, MA PhD Daito Bunka
Deputy Vice-Chancellor & Vice-

President (Regional Campuses & 
Global Engagement)

Mr Kolinio Boila
BA MBA S.Pac.

Executive Director
Finance

Mr Jone Maritino 
Nemani

Dip BA S.Pac., MCom (Buss/HR) UNSW,
FAHRI (Aust)

Executive Director
People & Workforce Strategy

Dr Nacanieli Rika
BA MBA PGDipAFM PGDipEd(TT) 

MCom S.Pac., PhD ANU
School of Accounting, Finance 

and Economics

Professor Surendra 
Prasad

BSc (Hons) MSc Bihar, PhD Kanpur
School of Agriculture, 

Geography, Environment, Ocean 
and Natural Sciences

Professor Gurmeet 
Singh

BCom MCom MPhil PhD J&K
School of Business and 

Management

Associate Professor 
Sandra Tarte
BA Melb., PhD ANU

School of Law and Social 
Sciences

Professor Sudesh 
Mishra

BA W’gong., PhD Flin
School of Pacific Arts, 

Communication and Education

Professor Maurizio 
Cirrincione

PhD Palermo
School of Information 

Technology, Engineering, 
Mathematics and Physics
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Organisational Structure

ITS



19USP | Annual Report 2021

Our 
Students, 
Staff and 
Region
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Headcount 2020 2021

Total Distinct Students 31,096 30,547

Sub-Degree Programmes(Skill- based) 4,956 3,729

Pre-Degree Programmes 5,823 5,308

Undergraduate Programmes 17,019 17,739

Postgraduate Programmes 3,094 3,235

Unclassified 1,625 1,485

StudentsStudents Headcount

Students Headcount
Programme Level

Degree Programmes

Unclassified
1,625
1,485

Pacific TAFE
4,956
3,729

Pacific TAFE Preliminary 1,948
2,000

Pacific TAFE Foundation
3,875
3,308

Certificate Programmes 509
295

Diploma Programmes
643
630

Postgraduate Certificate Programmes
29
46

Graduate Certificate Programmes
352
219

Postgraduate Diploma Programmes 1,473
1,601

Professional Diploma Programmes
161
195

Masters Programmes 980
1,085

Doctorate Programmes

Note: The sum of students studying at different course levels will not be equal to the total number of students since a 
significant number of students study between different course levels.

128
135

15,838
16,768

2020 2021

Distinct 
headcount

20
20

20
21

31,096 30,547
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Enrolment by Campus (EFTS)

Note: EFTS - Equivalent Full-Time Students is a unit of measure that defines the calculated (not actual) number of 
students equivalent to the number carrying the workload of a full-time student. For example, an EFTS workload of 
1.0/yr for a student means that the student is equvalent to a full-time student, while an EFTS of 0.5/yr means half the 
workload of a full-time student.
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Enrolment by Nationality (EFTS)

Campus 2020 2021

Total EFTS 17,695.9 17,658.3

31
.0

19.9

Cook Islands 
Campus

Fiji 
Campuses

98
98

.4

950
0.2

Kiribati 
Campus

14
47

.0 1631.2

Tokelau 
Campus

37
.1 52.7

Tonga 
Campus

87
9.

8 1104.6

Tuvalu 
Campus

Vanuatu - Emalus 
Campus

28
3.

6 273.8 16
56

.2 1892.5

Marshall Islands 
Campus

89
.2

66.2

Nauru 
Campus

59
.5

43.3

Niue 
Campus

15
.4

11.2

Samoa 
Campus

27
7.

1

275.0

Solomon Islands 
Campus

27
99

.1 2579.9

International

222.7

207.9
2020

2021

2020 2021



23USP | Annual Report 2021

Enrolment by Gender

2020 2021 % in 2021

7,265.7 7,225.9 41%

10,428.8 10,423.5 59%

1.5

Total EFTS 17,695.9 17,658.3 100%

8.9 0.05%

Male Female

Undeclared
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Enrolment by Study Type (EFTS)

Enrolment by Study Mode (EFTS)

Enrolment by School (EFTS)

Study Type 2020 2021 % in 2021

Full-Time 9,138.4 9,201.2 52%

Part-Time 8,557.5 8,457.0 48%

Total EFTS 17,695.9 17,658.3 100%

Study Mode 2020 2021 % in 2021

Blended mode 4,753.4 4,297.2 24.3%

Face-to-Face 6,617.2 6,465.9 36.6%

Online 80+% offering 3,431.7 3,872.2 21.9%

Print 2,893.6 3,023.0 17.1%

Total EFTS 17,695.9 17,658.3 100%

School 2020 2021 % in 2021

Sch of Agri, Geo, Env,Oc&NatSc 1,618 1,720.8 10%

Sch of InfoTech, EngrMath&Phys 2,332.4 2,528.7 14%

School of Accntng, Fince & Eco 1,801.0 2,009.4 11%

School of Business &Management 2,156.7 1,985.3 11%

School of Law & Social Science 2,363.2 2,350.5 13%

School of Pac Arts, Comm & Edu 2,357.5 2,472.3 14%

Pacific TAFE 5,115.8 4,481.4 25%

PaCE-SD 97 109.5 1%

Total EFTS 17,841.8 17,658.2 100%
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Enrolment by Subject (EFTS)

Subject 2020 2021 % in 2021

Accounting 1,053.8 1,211.3 6.9%

Agriculture 293.0 327.6 1.9%

Biology 511.7 471.9 2.7%

Business Administration 133.8 136.8 0.8%

Centre for Voc & Cont Edu 1,755.1 1,135.1 6.4%

Chemistry 480.7 478.0 2.7%

Chinese 10.4 9.0 0.1%

Civil Engineering 0.0 63.3 0.4%

Climate Change 97.0 109.5 0.6%

Computing Science 369.6 404.6 2.3%

Cook Islands Māori 1.4 4.0 0.0%

Development Governance 116.6 122.6 0.7%

Earth & Environmental Science 46.4 51.6 0.3%

Economics 669.7 705.6 4.0%

Education 1,065.2 1,032.1 5.8%

Electrical/Electro.Engineering 182.3 184.1 1.0%

Engineering Technology 27.8 31.9 0.2%

Environmental Science 6.8 8.3 0.0%

Environmental Studies 62.3 73.4 0.4%

Fijian 33.1 32.1 0.2%

Finance 255.3 268.9 1.5%

French 8.1 4.1 0.0%

Gender Studies 76.8 76.5 0.4%

Geography 757.9 767.5 4.3%

Geospatial Science 163.8 134.3 0.8%

Hindi 8.5 8.1 0.0%

History 243.3 260.9 1.5%

Information System 450.8 477.0 2.7%

Journalism 33.6 37.1 0.2%

Land Management 155.8 145.3 0.8%

Law 1,153.7 1,183.8 6.7%

Linguisitics 124.9 132.9 0.8%

Literature 72.3 78.9 0.4%

Literature & Language 826.4 810.6 4.6%

Marine Affairs 2.5 3.5 0.0%

Marine Studies 142.5 159.6 0.9%
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Subject 2020 2021 % in 2021

Mathematics 1,075.3 1,135.0 6.4%

Mechan.Manufacturing Engineer. 176.6 170.1 1.0%

Mgmt & Public Administration 1,402.0 1,335.1 7.6%

Official Statistics 116.0 132.6 0.8%

Pacific Policing 55.4 47.8 0.3%

Pacific Studies 13.8 9.5 0.1%

Physics 283.5 279.0 1.6%

Politics 224.0 232.5 1.3%

Population & Demography 26.3 30.6 0.2%

Psychology 159.0 181.0 1.0%

Research (Masters & PhD by Thesis) 0.1 0.0 0.0%

Research Skills & Matters (SC356 & SC400) 66.7 87.9 0.5%

Social Work 62.9 81.0 0.5%

Sociology 309.5 334.4 1.9%

Statistics 100.4 134.8 0.8%

Technology 65.2 62.9 0.4%

Tongan & Niuafo’ou 3.4 0.0 0.0%

Tourism and Hospitality 465.2 368.3 2.1%

University (Generic Courses) 1,840.5 1,892.8 10.7%

Vagahau Niue 3.9 1.5 0.0%

Total EFTS 19,862.0 17,658.3 100.0%

Course Level 2020 2021 % in 2021

Preliminary 863.0 770.8 4.4%

Foundation 2,501.8 2,591.9 14.7%

Vocational & Continuing Education 1,755.2 1,135.1 6.4%

Degree 100 level 5,151.5 5,496.4 31.1%

Degree 200 level 3,300.3 3,213.3 18.2%

Degree 300 level 2,772.0 2,820.0 16.0%

Postgraduate 400 level 989.3 1094.8 6.2%

Professional Law 123.0 142.9 0.8%

MBA Courses 133.8 136.8 0.8%

Research (Masters & PhD by Thesis) 252.3 256.5 1.5%

Total EFTS 17,842.0 17,658.3 100.0%

Enrolment by Course Level (EFTS)

Enrolment by Subject (EFTS)
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Enrolment by Postgraduate Course Level (EFTS)

Postgraduate Course 
Level 2020 2021 % in 2021

Professional Law 123.0 142.9 8.8%

MBA course 133.8 136.7 8.4%

Postgraduate 400 level 989.2 1,094.7 67.1%

Masters Mini Thesis 
(Part-Time) 23.7 15.7 1.0%

Masters Mini Thesis 
(Full-Time) 10.5 6.5 0.4%

Masters Thesis (Full-
Time) 82.5 89.5 5.5%

Masters Thesis (Part-
Time) 66.5 70.2 4.3%

PhD Thesis (Full-Time) 27.0 33.5 2.1%

PhD Thesis (Part-Time) 42.0 41.0 2.5%

Total EFTS 1,498.3 1,630.9 100.0%
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Awards by Nationality

2020 2021

2020 2021

Total Awards 5,619 2,356

8 36

Cook Islands 
Campus

Fiji 
Campuses

35
40 1245

Kiribati 
Campus

24

2 92

Tokelau 
Campus

5 3

Tonga 
Campus

22

4 195

Tuvalu 
Campus

Vanuatu - Emalus 
Campus

92

25
6 112

Marshall Islands 
Campus

25 12

Nauru 
Campus

20 9

Niue 
Campus

66

Samoa 
Campus

15

8
19

Solomon Islands 
Campus

95
4 432

International

94

127
2020

2021

1

8

* As at 1st April 2021, this does not include semester 2, 2021 completions (May 
2022 Graduation)
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Awards By Programme Level

Research Masters and PhD Awards

* As at 1st April 2021, this does not include semester 2, 2021 completions (May 2022 Graduation)

* As at 1st April 2021, this does not include semester 2, 2021 completions (May 2022 Graduation)

Programme Level 2020 2021 % in 2021

Doctorate Programmes 11 5 0.2%

Masters Programmes 314 133 5.6%

Professional Diploma Programmes 163 164 7.0%

Post Graduate Diploma Programmes 549 249 10.6%

Post Graduate Certificate Programmes 200 90 3.8%

Graduate Certificate Programmes 16 1 0.0%

Degree Programmes 1816 643 27.3%

Diploma Programmes 67 47 2.0%

Certificate Programmes 80 225 9.6%

Pacific TAFE Foundation 836 178 7.6%

Pacific TAFE Preliminary 44 17 0.7%

Pacific TAFE 1523 604 25.6%

Total Awards 5,619 2,356 100.0%

Research Level 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021*

Masters (Full Thesis) 44 36 50 60 67 48 17

PhD Thesis 12 9 15 13 15 11 5

Total Awards 56 45 65 73 82 59 22
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2020 2021

Senior Staff 783 703

Intermediate & Junior 822 867

Total 1,605 1,570

All Staff Breakdown

Note: 2021 staff data census date is as at 31 December 2021
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Academic Staff by Ranking

Pacific	TAFE	Academic	Staff

Staff by Campus and Category

Staff	Classification 2020 2021

Professor 12 11

Associate Professor 18 17

Senior Lecturer 43 40

Senior Fellow 1 2

Fellow 8 7

Lecturer 58 66

Subject Coordinator 1 2

Assistant Lecturer 67 70

Teaching Assistant 68 106

Other Academics 50 32

Total 358 353

Staff	Classification 2020 2021

Head of College 2 2

Coordinator 23 20

Facilitator 54 54

Total Academics 79 76

Campus Intermediate & 
Junior Senior Staff Total

2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021

Cook Islands 2 4 6 3 8 7

Kiribati 23 18 8 6 31 24

Labasa, Fiji 18 13 10 11 28 24

Laucala, Fiji 597 590 592 552 1,189 1,142

Lautoka, Fiji 16 15 15 14 31 29

Marshall Islands 11 11 17 11 28 22

Nauru 9 10 4 3 13 13

Niue 3 3 3 2 6 5

Samoa 46 46 21 18 67 64

Solomon Islands 32 32 30 27 62 59

Tonga 30 33 24 16 54 49

Tokelau 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tuvalu 2 8 6 3 8 11

Emalus, Vanuatu 33 84 47 37 80 121

Total 822 867 783 703 1,605 1,570

Note: Laucala, Fiji staff numbers include USP headquartered staff who support the rest of the University.
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Year Books Book 
Chapters

Conference 
Proceedings

Journal 
Articles Total Other 

Types
Total 

Outputs

2014 3 20 40 112 175 12 187

2015 1 15 37 90 143 11 154

2016 3 10 54 124 191 9 200

2017 5 15 36 140 196 19 215

2018 3 18 53 134 208 29 237

2019 0 34 23 165 222 21 243

2020 1 88 23 203 315 20 335

2021 4 56 15 178 253 23 276

Research Output by Publication Type

Note: The main research outputs are books, book chapters, conference proceedings and journal articles. 
These are the main areas listed in the 2013 Higher Education Research Data Collection (HERDC), 
Australian government.

Other types of outputs include editorials, reviews, notes, short surveys, and articles in press.

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021*

Masters (Full Thesis) 50 60 67 48 17

PhD 15 13 15 11 5

Total Research Masters & PhD 65 73 82 59 22

Research Masters & PhD Awards

*Completion Data extracted from DIBS 11 April 2022.

YEAR SAGEONS STEMP SAFE SBM SoLaSS SPACE PaCE-SD Total

2021 43 54 24 55 23 14 12 225

FSTE FBE FALE PaCE-SD

2020 148 80 94 7 341

2019 191 73 58 19 353

2018 103 67 55 6 338

2017 121 79 59 11 285

Research Output by Schools

Source: USPERR
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Note: The definition of External Research Income is as per the 2013 HERDC.

Research Income

Year Total Research Income

2015 $9,928,820

2016 $10,576,323

2017 $7,478,636

2018 $12,194,443

2019 $7,606,523

2020 $4,300,000

2021  $12,885,178

Total Alumni
59,719

* As at 1st April 2021, this does not include semester 2, 
2021 completions (May Graduation)
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Highlights
of 2021
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Research Excellence In The 
Ocean

The University made an outstanding 
contribution to the special issue of Marine 
Pollution Bulletin focussing on Pacific 
Marine Science. The special issue entitled 
“Ecosystem resilience and human impact 
in the Pacific Oceanscape: current status 
and future directions” was published in an 
eminent journal Marine Pollution Bulletin 
where 30 members of USP authored on 
a range of topics, varying from pollution, 
ecotoxicology, microplastics, water 
quality, human health and ecosystem 
services. The broad contribution is a 
testament to USP’s significant research 
capacity.

USP Declared Smoke-Free 
University

The University was declared a smoke-
free university in January 2021 to protect 
the health of its staff and students, 
and to preserve the environment. All 
campuses and rented facilities involving 
USP business, except for staff residences 
on campus, were declared smoke-free 
zones.

USP Academics named in the 
Top 2% Scientists of the World 
List

Four academics from USP were featured 
in Stanford University’s list of the top 2% 
scientists in the world based on citations 
and publications: Professor Maurizio 
Cirrincione, USP’s Head of School of 
Information Technology, Engineering, 
Mathematics and Physics (STEMP), 
Professor Stephen Pratt, Deputy Head 
of School of Business and Management 
(Research, Innovation and Postgraduate 
Affairs), Professor Ahmed Rafiuddin, 
STEMP Professor of Engineering, and Dr 
Brad Carte, Campus Director Marshall 
Islands. 

USP Develops Low-Cost 
Emergency Ventilators

A multidisciplinary engineering design 
and fabrication team of staff and 
students from STEMP at Laucala Campus 
developed a low-cost emergency care 
ventilator prototype for use in local 
hospitals. This project was funded by the 
Agence Universitaire de la Francophonie 
(AUF) which is one of the largest university 
networks in the world with 1007 members 
in 119 countries. USP’s team of young 
engineers were part of nearly 2000 teams 
that applied from 79 countries. 
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USP was ranked in the 2022 Times Higher Education 
(THE) World University Rankings. 

THE World University Rankings data places USP in 
the band from 1000 to 1200 ranking USP in the top 
10% of universities in the world.

Ranked amongst the 
TOP 10% of Universities 
in the World

*2022 Times Higher Education 
World University Rankings and 
International Handbook of 
Universities Edition 2021 (UNESCO)

Ranked 601-800 in Physical 
Sciences in the 2022 Times 
Higher Education World 
University Rankings

Ranked 501-600 in Social 
Sciences in the 2022 Times 
Higher Education World 
University Rankings

USP ranked in the top 400 universities 
for International Outlook and top 500 

universities in Industry Outcome*.
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USP And APTC Signs New 
Partnership

USP signed a new partnership with 
the Australia Pacific Training Coalition 
to enable both institutions to work 
collaboratively for quality Technical 
and Vocational Education and Training 
(TVET) delivery and better employment 
outcomes for Pacific people. Under 
this new agreement, APTC and USP 
through Pacific TAFE will support the 
Pacific Islanders’ skills training needs for 
labour market demands, particularly for 
recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Agreement with BAF to 
strengthen marine invasion 
detection

USP’s Institute of Applied Sciences (IAS) 
and the Biosecurity Authority of Fiji (BAF) 
signed an operational arrangement to 
strengthen Fiji’s capability in detecting 
marine invasion and enhancing marine 
environment by monitoring high-risk 
marine invasive alien species (MIAS). 
This forms an integral part of the Pacific 
Islands Marine Bioinvasions Alert Network 
Project (PACMAN Project).

Publication Highlights 
Importance Of Ocean Dialogue 
In Strong Stewardship Of The 
Blue Planet

USP made an outstanding contribution 
in a new publication titled, “A new way 
forward for ocean-climate policy as 
reflected in the UNFCCC Ocean and 
Climate Change Dialogue submissions” 
in time for the 26th United Nations 
Climate Change Conference of the Parties 
(COP26). A team of highly acclaimed 
scientists, including USP’s Director of 
the Pacific Centre for Environment and 
Sustainable Development (PaCE-SD) & 
Professor of Ocean and Climate Change, 
Professor Elisabeth Holland, published 
the paper on the UNFCCC Ocean-Climate 
Dialogue in Climate Policy, a highly 
ranked international journal publishing 
high-quality research into climate-
change policy, including adaptation, 
negotiations and impact.
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USP Staff Publish Research in 
Nature Sustainability

Twenty-eight researchers, including 
Dr. Stephen Galvin of SAGEONS and 
Professor Juergen Boehmer, former Head 
of School of USP’s School of Geography, 
Earth Science and Environment (SGESE), 
set out to document this evidence in 2015. 
Following six years of in-depth reviews of 
529 English-language articles, the results 
of this study were published in Nature 
Sustainability, a top-ranking scientific 
journal.

USP and AUF co-host 
Engineering workshop

With support from the Agence 
Universitaire de la Francophonie (AUF), 
USP met with industry stakeholders to 
explore the possibility of offering the 
Bachelor of Engineering programme at its 
Emalus Campus in Vanuatu. The Bachelor 
of Engineering is currently offered at USP’s 
Laucala Campus in Fiji in three different 
disciplines: Civil Engineering, Electrical-
Electronic Engineering and Mechanical 
Engineering.

USP Nauru Campus signs MOU with 
NORI

USP and the Nauru Ocean Resources Inc. 
(NORI) signed a MOU to fund a science 
scholarship programme in 2022 for Year 
11 students of Nauru Secondary School. 
The MOU will help the region meet its 
needs, addressing the scarcity of people 
in science, technology, and engineering.

USP, Swire Shipping and MCST 
Project Cerulean to Build a New 
Class of Low-Carbon Cargo 
Sailing	Vessel	for	the	Pacific

USP in a partnership with Swire Shipping 
plans to support the Micronesian Centre 
for Sustainable Transport’s (MCST) to 
build the Pacific’s first low-carbon, low-
cost sail-assisted inter-island cargo vessel 
to serve communities in the region that 
lack cargo handling infrastructure. With 
up to FJD 8 million in total funding, USP 
will support MCST’s research efforts 
addressing challenges associated with 
constructing and operating a wind-motor 
hybrid vessel on underserved routes. This 
effort will be administered by USP under 
Project Cerulean.
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Seven USP Postgraduate 
students for Glasgow COP 26

Seven postgraduate students from USP 
supported the Fijian, Solomon Islands, 
Tuvalu and Vanuatu Government 
delegations by observing fundamental 
negotiations in securing the future of the 
planet during the COP 26 United Nations 
Climate Change Summit. The core group 
was supported by an additional ten USP 
students, who provided research and 
analytical briefings.

Pacific	Youth	Summit	highlights	
realities	of	the	Pacific

The Pacific Youth Summit with the 
theme ‘Resilient Youth Leaders: Drivers 
of Sustainable Development’ brought 
together around 5,000 youth leaders, 
students and professionals from across 
the Pacific region focusing on the 
importance of integrity and decisive 
youth action on anti-corruption, 
transparency, and accountability in public 
and private governance. The Summit was 
hosted by The University of the South 
Pacific Students Association (USPSA) 
with support from the United Nations 
Development Programme (UNDP) under 
the United Nations Pacific Regional Anti-
Corruption (UN-PRAC) Project funded by 
the New Zealand Government.

First Fijian Language Post-
Graduate programme in the 
region

For the first time, USP began offering 
a Post-Gradudate Diploma in Fijian 
Language Studies following a funding 
agreement with the iTaukei Trust Fund 
Board, signalling a great achievement 
and a breakthrough for the University 
and for Fijian Language Studies. The 
University is working towards developing 
a global Centre for Fijian Language 
Studies.

Launch of Human Rights 
Defenders Courses

In partnership with the Office of the UN 
High Commissioner for Human Rights, 
USP developed a 200-level Human 
Rights Defenders course as part of its 
Leadership, Governance and Human 
Rights (DLGHR) Diploma programme, to 
improve understanding of human rights 
in the Pacific region - the first within the 
small Pacific Island countries and the 
Southern Hemisphere.
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Cook	Islands	Māori	Vernacular	
Course

USP Cook Islands Campus delivered the 
Cook Islands Māori language vernacular 
course to help teachers promote, 
preserve and encourage the usage of the 
language.

Through this cutting-edge linguistics 
programme, teachers can study towards 
either a Certificate or Diploma in 
Vernacular Languages, specialising in 
Cook Islands Māori.

USP’s Bachelor of Engineering 
(Civil) Programme Accredited

The Bachelor of Engineering (Civil) 
programme at USP was recognised by 
the WASC Senior College and University 
Commission (WSCUC). The WSCUC is an 
institutional accrediting agency serving a 
diverse membership of public and private 
higher education institutes throughout 
California, Hawai’i and the Pacific as well as 
a selected number of institutions outside 
the US. Receiving this approval by WSCUC 
signifies that the Bachelor of Engineering 
(Civil) programme meets the WSCUC 
Standards of Accreditation.

New Degree Programme: BA in 
Communication and Media

The new Bachelor of Communication 
and Media was offered by USP’s School 
of Pacific Arts, Communication and 
Education (SPACE) in Semester II, 2021. 
The new programme was designed to 
prepare students for a wide range of 
communication and media roles.

STEMP Introduces Cybersecurity 
Postgraduate Programme

STEMP introduced a new Postgraduate 
Diploma in Cybersecurity. The new 
course prepares students to identify 
and mitigate cyber threats in computer 
networks to prevent cybercrimes; 
propose and implement security policies 
for an organisation; and demonstrate an 
understanding of professional codes of 
conduct and ethical standards.
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USP Ranked 11th in Crisis Management 
amongst the Top 100 Universities in the 
World Universities Real Impact (WURI) 
Ranking System
USP was ranked 11th against some of the top Universities of the world 
in the area of Crisis Management by the World Universities with Real 
Impact (WURI) 2021 global ranking. USP entered in the category of 
“Crisis Management” providing details of how it responded to COVID-19 
in 2020. Its submission, titled ‘Continuity of Education amidst COVID-19 
Pandemic’ was submitted in December 2020. WURI assessed USP 
on how it dealt with external shocks such as the COVID-19 pandemic 
and technological breakthroughs (e.g. artificial intelligence) “to thrive 
rather than just to survive”.
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USP opens its Outreach 
Commons in Nadi

USP opened its Outreach Commons 
at the Pacific TAFE Centre in Namaka, 
Nadi in March 2021 to enable students 
to access connectivity. The projected 
opening is the culmination of USP’s 
effort to enhance online learning for its 
students, especially after realising that 
it would need to alter its teaching and 
student learning practices post-COVID-19 
pandemic. The USP Outreach Commons 
ensures that learning and teaching 
continue without significant interruption 
to the students’ progress.

USP commences with 
Certificate	4	in	Disaster	Risk	
Management programme

Pacific TAFE successfully launched the 
Certificate 4 in Disaster Risk Management 
(DRM) programme in partnership with 
The Pacific Community (SPC). The DRM 
programme prepares Pacific people 
to better respond to disasters more 
effectively in future.

“You Said, We Did” Campaign 
to better address students’ 
concerns

USP Vice-Chancellor and President, 
Professor Pal Ahluwalia, launched the “You 
Said, We Did” (YSWD) campaign, a new 
student-experience initiative. The YSWD 
initiative allows the Vice-Chancellor’s 
Office to receive and coordinate student 
complaints, suggestions, views, and 
comments across all USP campuses. 
The campaign aims at strengthening 
communication between students and the 
Vice-Chancellor’s Office to better address 
student concerns.

USP hosts Virtual Open Week

USP hosted its 2021 Virtual Open Week 
with prospective students from around 
Fiji and the region participating and 
learning more about the programmes 
and courses offered by the University.
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International Day for Persons 
with Disabilities event 
emphasises need for sports 
participation

In collaboration with the Oceania 
National Olympic Committees (ONOC) 
and Sports Matters, USP commemorated 
the International Day for Persons with 
Disability. The event focused on the right 
to high-quality physical education, the 
Olympic principles and rights to sports 
inherent in the Olympic Movement, and 
USP’s efforts to promote sports, physical 
activity and education in the Pacific.

USP Launches Initiative to 
Encourage Innovation Talanoa 
within the University

USP launched an internal communication 
initiative, ‘Innovation @USP-Wide 
Talanoa’, to encourage the USP 
community to participate in meaningful 
Talanoa about innovation at USP. An 
inspirational theme guided this initiative, 
‘Innovation Begins with Us: Creating an 
Institutional Culture of Trust, Safety and 
Good Relationships for USP People’. The 
idea was to value the voice of employees 
in shaping innovative thinking, services, 
and communication at the workplace 
in support of the University’s strategic 
priorities on innovation in research and 
education.

Draft Strategic Plan 
consultation

USP held a virtual interactive discussion 
on USP’s draft Strategic Plan (SP) 2022-
2024. The SP 2022-2024 builds on 
previous plans refreshing certain aspects 
that USP saw requiring adaptation. 
Staff and students were pleased 
with the opportunity to contribute to 
consultations.

Gender Awareness workshop

USP’s Tonga Campus held a virtual gender 
awareness workshop to raise awareness 
about the nature and repercussions of 
harassment and bullying. The workshop 
aimed to empower staff and students to 
stand up against any form of harassment. 
Every section of the University community 
willl undergo these workshops.
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Principal and Careers Teachers 
Consultation

A virtual Principal and Careers Teachers 
consultation was organised to allow 
principals and teachers to hear about 
why the University is the best choice for 
prospective students. The participants 
included teachers and principals from 
various educational institutions where 
they engaged in active discussion and 
applauded the University’s effort and 
initiative in holding the consultations.

COVID-19 Vaccination Drive a 
Success

USP’s Campus Life carried out a second 
COVID-19 vaccination drive and received 
a huge turnout from the University 
community. The vaccination drive was 
organised for on-campus students/staff 
only, who had the opportunity to receive 
their second dose.
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Education
As a regional institution of higher 
learning serving twelve member 
countries dotted across the vast South 
Pacific Ocean, the University of the South 
Pacific, in 2021, has had to draw upon 
every bit of its thirty years of collective 
experience of providing distance and 
flexible learning to withstand the 
ongoing acute disruptions caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic and quickly adopt 
an adaptable learning and teaching 
strategy that focuses on maintaining 
acceptable student experience in a new 
learning environment.  

In this Annual Report, we report on the 
activities undertaken by the University 
in 2021 to ensure the continual delivery 
of quality learning and teaching 
programmes to over 30,000 students 
across the South Pacific region.

Priority Area 1: 
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 Efforts in Ensuring 
Continuity of Learning and 
Teaching
	Office	the	Deputy	Vice-Chancellor	
(Education)

Some of the University’s responses to the 
challenges brought on and highlighted 
by the pandemic have been institutional, 
mobilised via the Learning and Teaching 
Continuity Team (LTCT). Chaired by the 
Acting Deputy Vice-Chancellor and 
Vice-President Education, Professor Jito 
Vanualailai, the LTCT brought together 
key representatives from across the 
University, including students. 

In addition to overseeing the shift to 
virtual teaching, the LTCT saw through 
such initiatives as the toll-free USP Call 
Centre; Offline Print Packs; free access 
to USP learning platforms via Vodafone 
Fiji and Digicel Fiji; a laptop scheme 
offering subsidised laptops via the USP 
Book Centre; and the repurposing of 
Radio Pasifik for the broadcasting of 
course learning materials. Such initiatives 
combined with the persevering 
commitment of teaching and support staff 
who went beyond the call of duty to reach 
and engage with students contributed to 
buoyant student enrolments, and stable 
pass and retention rates during a period 
of swift and harsh change.

In the meantime, the Office of the DVC 
(E) successfully met the 2021 milestones 
of the WSCUC Accreditation Project. 
This is an ongoing continuous quality 
assurance and improvement project 
that complements USP’s core business 
of providing high-quality teaching and 
learning experience and support for 
its students. The core commitments 
and objectives of the Accreditation 
Project overlap with the overall strategic 
deliverables and outcomes of Priority 
Area 1: Education as highlighted in the 
Strategic Plan 2019-2021. 

Despite the challenges faced in 2021, 
particularly the imposition of financial 
constraints and the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the University continued to uphold 
WSCUC’s core commitment to Student 
Success, Quality and Improvement, and 
institutional Integrity, Sustainability, and 
Accountability. 

USP’s self-driving dedication to high-
quality education, student success, 
continuous quality assurance, and 
improvement itself ensures the fulfilment 
of the majority of WSCUC Accreditation 

objectives. USP’s Interim Reporting to 
WSCUC is a significant milestone where 
the University will be informing the 
WSCUC Interim Report Committee on 
the progress made by the University in 
addressing the seven recommendations 
made by the accreditor upon Initial 
Accreditation in 2018. The University will 
submit the Interim Report in 2022.

Academic Units
The University’s eight Academic Units 
(AUs), namely, the School of Business 
and Management; the School of Law and 
Social Sciences; the School of Technology, 
Engineering, Mathematics and Physics; 
the School of Accounting, Finance, and 
Economics, the School of Agriculture, 
Geography, Environment, Ocean and 
Natural Sciences; the School of Pacific 
Arts, Communication and Education; the 
Pacific Technical and Further Education; 
and the Pacific Centre for Environment 
and Sustainable Development, continue 
to be responsive to the region’s research 
needs and are committed to ensuring 
programmes are of quality standards, 
accessible, relevant, and address the 
needs of the Pacific people. 

This is evidenced by the institution’s 
commitment to ensuring all USP 
programmes are recorded with the Fiji 
Higher Education Commission signifying 
that programme outcomes are aligned to 
the University Graduate and Postgraduate 
Outcomes. Consultation with the then-
faculties began in 2020 and has continued 
with the Schools. The completion of this 
project will fulfil a significant portion 
of the University’s pending curriculum 
development work underwriting L&T 
Quality Assurance, as well as meeting the 
recording requirements of the FHEC, the 
recommendations of WSCUC, and the 
likely requirements of other accrediting 
bodies.

School Of Agriculture, Geography, 
Environment, Ocean and Natural 
Sciences (SAGEONS)

Despite the challenges brought 
on by the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
disciplines under SAGEONS achieved 
significant milestones in 2021. The 
Centre for Agriculture, Research and 
Extension (CARE) provides Agriculture 
students vocational and practical 
training to enhance their employability 
and generate income. Further, the 
Postgraduate Diploma Programme 
Learning Outcomes for all the disciplines 
were revised, finalised, and pending 
approval. The disciplines under SAGEONS 
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implemented several initiatives in 2021 
that contributed to quality teaching 
and learning experience, ensuring 
student success, enhancing students’ 
learning experience and engagement. 
This included the development of a 
discipline-level mechanism to monitor 
the progress of postgraduate students’ 
research theses, effective use of field trips 
to rural communities, industries, and to 
the marine environment. 

This provided hands-on practical learning 
opportunities for undergraduate and 
postgraduate students, upgrading 
academic staff tertiary-teaching 
knowledge and experience by pursuing 
and completing Tertiary Teaching 
certificates, and continuous upgrading 
of course contents by not more than 
20% to ensure learning materials remain 
relevant to changing needs of the region, 
and consistent with national aspirations, 
international and regional mandates.

School Of Business and Management 
(SBM)

The School of Business and Management 
(SBM) successfully delivered all courses 
virtually via online, blended, and print 
modes to students across the USP region. 
Hard copies of Online Print Packages 
(OPP) containing course materials (such 
as core readings, lecture notes, etc.) were 
prepared by course coordinators and 
distributed to students in lockdown areas 
so that they could continue with their 
studies.  

All the marking of assignments and 
tests were done online, and continuous 
feedback was communicated to students 
within a reasonable time frame. To further 
enhance the University’s flexible learning 
initiative, the SBM intends to convert 
some ‘face-to-face’ courses to ‘online’ 
and ‘blended’ modes in 2022.  SBM staff, 
Ms Tuma Greig was awarded scholarship 
to undertake PhD programme at Griffith 
University in Australia. 

School Of Law and Social Sciences 
(SOLASS)

SoLaSS, with the support of the United 
Nations Development Programme and 
the United Nations Office of the High 
Commission on Human Rights, will 
be offering three new courses in the 
Diploma in Leadership, Governance, and 
Human Rights from 2022. The University 
hosted the 24th Biennial Conference of 
the Pacific History Association (PHA), 
where the History department at SoLaSS 
successfully coordinated 33 panels, a 

book launch, a film screening, and several 
board meetings, which attracted Pacific 
experts from around the world. 

Adjunct Professor Eric Colvin completed 
two texts on the criminal law of 
parts of the Pacific:  Criminal Law of 
Vanuatu  (2022) and  Criminal Law of 
Solomon Islands, Kiribati and Tuvalu, 
providing an invaluable resource to 
students in the Law Discipline, especially 
students taking Criminal Law as part 
of an LLB course. Two SoLaSS staff, Mr. 
Jope Tarai and Mr. Jason Titifanue are 
awardees of prestigious scholarships to 
undertake PhD programmes in Australia. 

School Of Technology, Engineering, 
Mathematics and Physics (STEMP)

STEMP like other academic units 
delivered all its courses remotely and/or 
online to all the campuses in the region 
in 2021. The School created the STEMP 
L&T Committee and met several times 
to discuss the challenges faced, such as 
delivery of classes through BBB/Zoom, 
and aligning assessments to Learning 
Outcomes (LO), during remote teaching. 
The Deputy Head of School (Learning, 
Teaching and Quality) attended all 
meetings virtually and developed 
strategies that will be useful for 2022. 

School of Accounting, Finance and 
Economics (SAFE)

SAFE’s undergraduate and postgraduate 
Accounting programmes were 
successfully re-accredited with the Fiji 
Institute of Accountants (FIA) through 
the triennial review process, which was 
conducted by an independent reviewer. 
The review concluded that the quality of 
curriculum development and assessment 
together with the flexible modes of 
course delivery, create a very positive 
learning environment for Accounting 
students at USP.

In collaboration with CFL and ITS, 
SAFE successfully implemented online 
proctoring of exams for postgraduate 
Accounting courses. Students and 
staff responded very positively to this 
innovation which enables them to 
sit exams from their own homes and 
substantially reduces the volume of 
paper used in exams. The exams utilise 
Proctorio software, which includes several 
sophisticated features for invigilation of 
online exams.

USP signed an MOU to formalise 
collaboration with the Governments of 
Australia (DFAT) and Vanuatu. Under this 
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collaboration, DFAT will fund 10 internships 
per year over 3 years. This will enable 
SAFE graduates to obtain valuable work 
experience by undertaking a 6-month 
paid internship with various government 
agencies in Vanuatu. The collaboration 
also includes prizes to recognise the best 
graduates in accounting and economics.

School	 of	 Pacific	 Arts,	 Communication	
and Education (SPACE)

SPACE was able to redeploy, with exemplary 
success, its teaching and learning resources 
in the light of the global pandemic and 
focused on ensuring that the work of the 
university proceeded effectively in spite 
of the crisis. Of the many highlights, the 
following are note worthy.  

The Oceania Centre collaborated with the 
Asia Foundation to generate ten books 
for children penned by regional authors.  
The Centre also organised a retrospective 
digital exhibition of the Red Wave 
artists and a virtual reading session by 
prominent writers based in Oceania. USP 
Journalism and Earth Journalism Network 
successfully collaborated on issues 
pertaining to environmental reporting.  
The DHoS Learning, Teaching and Quality 
led a changing climate research project 
funded by UKRI. Teacher-upskilling 
workshops were conducted in the region.  
Notable research papers were published 
in linguistics, modernism studies and 
education.

Pacific	Technical	and	Further	Education	
(Pacific	TAFE)

USP Pacific TAFE endeavors to provide 
equitable, flexible, and accessible learning 
opportunities through its cohorts, and 
school-based programmes. The inclusion 
of Mailefihi Siuʻilikutapu College and 
Saineha High School in Tonga and 
Woodford International School, Koloale 
Community School, and Vononu National 
Secondary School in the Solomon Islands 
to the school-franchise programme 
means students can access the University 
Learning Management System, Moodle, 
and learning resources, with a pathway 
to the USP Foundation and Preliminary 
programme at a subsidised cost.

To further enhance the student learning 
environment, Pacific TAFE secured 
additional learning and teaching space 
at Honiara, Solomon Islands, to support 
Pacific TAFE students, and established an 
e-classroom at the Samoa Campus with 
remote learning capabilities to support 
online learning and teaching needs.  

Pacific	 Centre	 for	 Environment	 and	
Sustainable Development (PaCE-SD)

PaCE-SD is a centre for excellence in 
environmental education, research 
and community engagement in the 
Pacific Island Region. Its two academic 
programmes foster the development of a 
research culture that serves the region by 
involving communities and stakeholders. 
They are the Postgraduate Diploma in 
Climate Change, and the Postgraduate 
Diploma in Islands and Ocean 
Stewardship. Since these programmes 
are fully online, the COVID-19 pandemic 
had minimal impact on their delivery.  

Student	Support 
The student support sections were 
assigned the critical task of sustaining 
a good student experience during the 
challenges brought on by the pandemic in 
2021.  

Centre of Flexible Learning (CFL)

Apart from fulfiling its mandate, CFL also 
had to ensure face-to-face courses were 
ready to be delivered remotely and learning 
outcomes remained uncompromised 
following the swift shift to full-time online 
learning. Student Learning Support staff 
and First-Year Experience Coordinators 
adopted a hybrid model to support 
students across 10-campuses in over 80 
courses, facilitating over 1000 one-to-one 
consultations, 147 Academic and Study 
Skills workshops, and Peer Mentoring 
and Peer Assisted Study Sessions (PASS). 
Student engagement was paramount, 
and the preparations to ensure student 
support was both equitable and seamless 
were owing to the hard work of regional 
staff, students, student associations, 
academic staff, and external stakeholders. 
First-Year Experience extended its services 
to all undergraduate students, and despite 
a low percentage of pending exam results, 
extending learning support to 200 and 300 
levels students impacted the University’s 
pass rate. The 100-level students require 
more one-to-one and individual support.

Student Administrative Services (SAS)

To support the shift to online learning, SAS 
reactivated courses for remote delivery 
at all campuses in Semesters I and II. 
Laucala Campus graduation ceremonies 
were cancelled following the widespread 
community COVID-19 cases in Fiji, and 
students were assessed for completion 
and awarded their qualifications by Deed. 
SMT approved the procedures put in place 
by SAS for the conferment of awards when 

'



49USP | Annual Report 2021

there is no graduation ceremony. 
Despite the challenges posed by 
COVID-19 and working from home, SAS 
ably supported the regional campuses 
that hosted graduation ceremonies.

USP Library 

Building on the Library’s experiences 
and responses to challenges presented 
by COVID-19 in 2020, the Library 
network ably responded to its users’ 
information needs through virtual 
and blended activities in 2021. Survey 
statistics revealed an overall decrease 
in the use of face-to-face services, the 
Library recorded an increase in online 
reference (5.48%) and Inter-Library 
Loans (16.9%) and support for research 
through enhanced engagement (10%) 
by liaison librarians.

Enriching learners and teaching 
experiences was positively impacted by 
several new initiatives such as LibChat 
as an add on to online AskALibrarian 
service; online requests, and personal 
delivery of items from the general and 
reserve collection through courier and 
taxi services to the requestor’s home; 
collection from the Main Gate of library 
books by students and staff; scanning 
of resources to users in compliance with 
copyright; collaboration with the USP 
Students’ Association Laucala Branch 
on laptop loans for laptops acquired 
by the branch; a second book return 
chute located at the Pedestrian Gate 
for ease of returns; Pacific and General 
collections opened for browsing 
and borrowing by academics once a 
week for select hours; introduction of 
payments online; a fine amnesty for 
users and frequent alerts for awareness 
of COVID-19 protocols.

The Library’s Pacific Collection 
focused on the Library’s digitalisation 
programme for enhancement and 
equity of access which saw 46 theses 
added to the digital theses portal. 

Campus Life

Campus Life continues to focus on 
strengthening the student experience 
at USP. Health and wellness activities, 
counselling services, the Career and 
Internship Fair, and internships were 
facilitated remotely to ensure students 
continued to receive pastoral support 
and learning experience despite the 
closure of Fiji campuses. New ramps 
and renovations to accommodate 
students with disability were completed 
in 2021, highlighting the University’s 
commitment to providing excellent 
student support services and world-
class facilities for all students. 

Major Focus in 2022 
The major focus for 2022 is on improving 
the student learning experience. A 
means to do this is to hasten the process 
of transformation to a digital campus to 
improve efficiency, modernise operations, 
reduce costs, and build a future-proof 
foundation primed for growth. This is 
captured in the new SP 2022–2024 under 
the following new initiatives:

Student Communication

Develop, adopt and implement a 
personalised student communication 
strategy to facilitate instant two-way 
communication;

Learning & Teaching Space

Repurpose current spaces for both face-
to-face and virtual interactions and 
incorporate modern technology to allow 
more breakout areas for collaboration in 
smaller groups.

Teaching & Learning Technologies

Expand distance education to include 
the greater adoption of the Massive 
Open Online Courses (MOOCs) and live, 
interactive online courses.

Increase innovations in educational 
technologies, including the enhancement 
of USP’s Learning Management System, 
Moodle, and the adoption of emerging 
learning analytics to identify and help at-
risk students.

Comprehensive Student Support

Adopt a Student Information System to 
manage the complete student lifecycle: 
from attracting students, on-boarding 
new students, day-to-day support, exams 
and assessments, to graduation and 
alumni communities. 

Student Feedback and Assessment

Adopt technologies that make the 
feedback and assessment process as 
interactive and engaging as possible. 

Student Extracurricular Activities, 
Welfare and Wellbeing

Promote these with the adoption of 
appropriate and safe technologies.
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2021 GRADUATION2021 Graduation

2,354

1,130

47

100

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

Laucala Campus, Fiji - April 2021

Laucala Campus, Fiji - September, 2021

Samoa Campus - April, 2021 

Emalus Campus, Vanuatu - May, 2021

Undergraduate:  41% 
Postgraduate:  25% 
Pacific	TAFE:  34% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 397 
Masters graduates: 176 
PhD graduates: 5 
 
Nationalities: 20

Undergraduate:  41% 
Postgraduate:  23% 
Pacific	TAFE:  30% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 185 
Masters graduates: 73 
PhD graduates: 5 
 
Nationalities: 19

Undergraduate:  18% 
Postgraduate:  28% 
Pacific	TAFE:  54% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 20 
Masters graduates: 8 
 
Nationalities: 5

Undergraduate:  13% 
Postgraduate:  55% 
Pacific	TAFE:  32% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 26 
 
Nationalities: 4

Male Female

37%

35%

28%

28%

63%

65%

72%

72%
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2021 GRADUATION2021 Graduation

64

365

198

68

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

No Of Graduates Gender Other Notable Achievements

Niue Campus - October, 2021

Solomon Islands Campus - October, 2021

Tonga Campus - Deferred from November, 2021 to January, 2022

Cook Islands Campus - November, 2021

Undergraduate:  23% 
Postgraduate:  56% 
Pacific	TAFE:  20% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 21 
Masters graduates: 15 

Nationalities: 6

Undergraduate:  72% 
Postgraduate:  13% 
Pacific	TAFE:  15% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 38 
Masters graduates: 11 

Nationalities: 8

Undergraduate:  33% 
Postgraduate:  23% 
Pacific	TAFE:  44% 
 
Postgraduate graduates: 22 
Masters graduates: 24 

Nationalities: 7

Undergraduate:  13% 
Postgraduate:  1% 
Pacific	TAFE:  85% 
 
Masters graduates: 1 

Nationalities: 11

Male Female

42%

41%

25%

28%

58%

59%

75%

72%
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School Of Accounting, Finance And Economics

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Accounting (Shared Award) Harrshal Kumar

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Accounting (Shared Award) Shivneel Chandra

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Economics Harrshal Kumar

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
Graduate with a major in Finance (Shared Award) Ravikesh Ram

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
Graduate with a major in Finance (Shared Award) Shreya Raj

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Official Statistics Nicholla Chan

School	Of	Pacific	Arts,	Communication	And	Education

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
Bachelor of Education graduate Brent Tari

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Education Bhawna

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Literature Sudesh Kumar

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Literature and Language Shagufta Bano

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Technical and Vocational 
Education

Salome Liu

School Of Business And Management

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding Master 
of Business Administration graduate Joanne Ngwele

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding Tourism 
& Hospitality graduate Hyunsoo Lee

Prize for the most outstanding Master of Commerce in 
Tourism & Hospitality Management thesis Navneet Kumar 

Prize for the second most outstanding MBA graduate Anoshia Khan 

Gold Medal and Prize for the Most Outstanding Master 
of Commerce Graduate Selvin Prasad

2021 Gold Medallist & Prizes
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School Of Information Technology, Engineering, Mathematics And Physics 

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Computing Science Alfred Chand

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Information Systems (Shared 
Award)

Shivneel Chandra

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Information Systems (Shared 
Award)

Sovinesh Kumar

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Mathematics Patelisio Feao

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
Bachelor of Software Engineering graduate Olivia Bula

School Of Law And Social Sciences

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
Bachelor of Laws graduate Preeti Verma 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in History John Taukave 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Psychology Sudesh Kumar 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Social Work Shwetha Raj 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Sociology Kalesi Nainoca 

School Of Agriculture, Geography Environment, Oceans & Natural Sciences

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Biology Lavi Singh 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Chemistry Lavi Singh 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Geography Shagufta Bano 

Gold Medal and Prize for the most outstanding 
Environmental Science graduate Adi Salote Duaibe 

Most outstanding Masters Thesis Prize in Chemistry - 
The David Rohindra Prize Shavneet Mani
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Pacific	Centre	For	Environment	&	Sustainable	Development	(PaCE-SD)

Award Award Recipient

Most outstanding overall results in a Postgraduate 
Diploma Climate Change PaCE-SD Prize (Shared Prize) Alamoana Tofuola 

Most outstanding overall results in a Postgraduate 
Diploma Climate Change PaCE-SD Prize (Shared Prize) Christian Yves Amato Ali 

Most outstanding overall results in a Postgraduate 
Diploma Climate Change PaCE-SD Prize (Shared Prize) Denise Vanzie 

Most outstanding overall results in a Postgraduate 
Diploma Climate Change PaCE-SD Prize (Shared Prize) Zahra Nizbat 

Pacific	Technical	And	Further	Education	(Pacific	TAFE)

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal and  Prize for the most outstanding 
graduate with a major in Pacific TAFE Sheemal Shivanjini

Prizes for the most outstanding graduate in the 
following skills-based programmes:

Professional Diploma in Business Management Raymond Bangamuseve 

Diploma in Accounting (Level 5) Shivneet Shivam Nand 

Diploma of Business Administration (Level 5) 
Paayal Pritika Devi 

Diploma of Counselling (Level 5) Sheemal Shivanjini 

Diploma of Early Childhood Care & Education (Level 5) Ilisapeci Naqelekalou 

Diploma of Hospitality Management (Events, Food & 
Beverages & Front Office) Fane Kaisa Kama Koi 

Diploma of Human Resource Management (Level 5) Fiu Domoniko 

Diploma of Information Technology (Level 5) Salote Cavakilagi 
Gukirewa 

Diploma of Library & Information Services (Level 5) Emmie ST. John 

Certificate IV in Coastal Fisheries & Aquaculture 
Compliance Ellah Korasi 

Certificate 4 in Fisheries Enforcement & Compliance Ruth Ramo 

Certificate 4 in Resilience (Climate Change Adaptation 
& Disaster Risk Reduction) Raijieli Natadra 

Certificate 4 in Training, Assessment & Evaluation Mohammed Hussein

Certificate 3 in Community Development Christone Reddy 

Certificate III in Small Business Development & 
Management Famiza Khan 
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University Prizes And Gold Medals

Award Award Recipient

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding PhD 
graduate Vineet Chandra

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Master of 
Arts thesis Wilfred Singh Filmone 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Master of 
Commerce graduate Selvin Prasad 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Master by 
Research graduate (shared award) Monika Prasad

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Master by 
Research graduate (shared award) Selvin Prasad

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Master of 
Science thesis Wafaa Wardah 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Finau Qaraniqio 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Sangeeta Rao 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Vinal Kumar 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Alamoana Tofuola 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Christian Yves Amato Ali 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Denise Vanzie 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Zahra Nizbat 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Samlesh Vimal Chand 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding overall 
results in a Postgraduate Diploma (shared) Akshay Avikesh Ram 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Bachelor 
of Arts graduate Sudesh Kumar 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Bachelor 
of Commerce graduate Harrshal Kumar 

Gold Medal & Prize for the most outstanding Bachelor 
of Science graduate Lavi Singh 

Vice-Chancellor & President’s All-Rounder Prize

Award Award Recipient

Male Graduate with the Best Combined Academic 
Performance and Record of Service to the Community Mr. Shivneel Chandra
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Research, 
Innovation 
and 
Partnership
The past year has been a most productive 
one for Research and Innovation at 
the University. Most notable was our 
ranking in the Times Higher Education 
Global Rankings.  This ranking is highly 
dependent upon citations and research 
income, both of which reflect the 
extraordinary research being carried 
out at USP. This was all the more 
remarkable given the challenges of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, with our publication 
outputs and postgraduate numbers 
declining only slightly. In addition, our 
partnerships and development section 
was able to secure new collaborations 
and partnerships despite the fact that 
there was an extended lockdown at our 
Laucala campus.

Priority Area 2:
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Research Outputs
Overall, research outputs at USP continue to increase in an encouraging trend over 
the past decade. As shown in the figure below, in 2021, SCOPUS data recorded a slight 
decrease in research output with a total of 317 compared to 330 in 2020. Of the total 
research outputs, 75% were Journal articles, 5%  Book Chapters, and 8%  Conference 
Proceeding papers. The top five research areas for this period were in Social Sciences 
(16%); Environmental Sciences (12%); Agricultural and Biological Sciences (11%); 
Engineering (9%); and Computer Science (9%). 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

D
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u
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Year

Figure 1: Number of documents cited by Scopus. There were 317 research 
outputs in 2021. (Source: SCOPUS.com)

Of the 317 new publications, there were a total of 238 journal articles of which 19% are 
authored exclusively by USP authors (including single and coauthorships); and 76% 
are co-authored with International researchers (77% in 2020). From the latter, 23% of 
the outputs have USP as a lead-author in these research collaborations compared 
to 30% in the year 2020. Whilst USP outputs show a steady increase over time, the 
number of international research collaborations where USP has taken the lead role 
has been stable.

Postgraduate Affairs

(Figure 2: PGRS Enrolments data from DIBS)

2018 2019 2020 2021

PG Research Student Enrolment - EFTS

Masters (Full Thesis) PhD Thesis

Note that the award period is not yet complete, as the May 2022 
graduations will be counted as 2021 completions. 
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Masters (Full Thesis)
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In the 2018-2021 period, 236 postgraduate research students graduated, of which 81% 
completions were Masters by thesis and the remaining 19% were PhD programmes 
across all disciplines. Figure 3 below shows a decline in the completions in 2021, largely 
attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic with students having to delay their research 
work due to various restrictions. 

Note that the award period is not yet complete, as the May 2022 graduations will be counted as 2021 
completions. 

(Figure 3: Completions data from DIBS)

Postgraduate Externally Funded Scholarships

ACIAR-USP Scholarships
Since the signing of the first agreement, 
the Australian Centre for International 
Agricultural Research (ACIAR) and 
USP have worked together towards a 
common goal of developing the Pacific 
through research and knowledge 
transfer. Through this strategy, ACIAR has 
over the years evolved the programme 
to best address the needs of the Pacific 
through its scholarship scheme based 
on the ACIAR’s 2019 consultations with 
the Pacific Island countries. The current 
phase of the scholarship, referred to as 
Pacific Agricultural Scholarship Support 
Program (PASSP), is expected to invest a 
total of AUD$1.35m with the final tranche 
of the instalment payment expected to 
be deposited in 2023.

Norway-Pacific	 Ocean	 Climate	
(N-POC) Scholarship
The N-POC overarching contract was 
signed in partnership between the 
University of Bergen (UiB) and USP, 
where the objective is to build a strong 
interdisciplinary Pacific cohort of PhD 
researchers to address urgent challenges 
related to oceans and climate; building 

multidisciplinary Pacific research on 
the ocean-climate nexus for regional 
and global policy impact; and fostering 
enduring partnerships between 
researchers and universities in Norway 
and the Pacific Islands. N-POC total 
contract value for four years, 2021-2025, 
has been estimated at about FJD$5m.

Strategic Research Themes 

USP has identified five Strategic 
Research Themes (SRT) that are 
derived from the United Nation’s 
Sustainable Development Goals (2015–
2030) and underpinned by innovation, 
empowerment and sustainability. 
Four (4) new projects for 2021 valued at 
FJD$160,282.00 were approved. There are 
currently 30 active projects valued at FJD 
$1,636,738.28 funded by the University. 
SRT projects have produced so far 103 
outputs, incluing 53 journal articles and 6 
Masters Thesis

Innovation at USP
The implementation of Innovation@USP 
Wide Talanoa as an institutional initiative 
was completed in 2021. The purpose was 
to achieve a shared understanding of the 
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existing Innovation@USP Framework 
and to create an institutional culture that 
is supportive of innovation. Talanoa was 
guided by the theme Innovation begins 
with us: Creating an institutional ‘culture 
of trust, safety, and good relationships 
for USP people’. 

We completed PRIN Phase 2 
implementation, which includes 
recruitment and national activities on 
innovation in RMI, Tonga, and Vanuatu 
USP Campuses at a contract value of USD 
90,000. This is 60% of the total funding 
of USD 150,000, provided by UNDP in 
partnership with USP to support the 
groundwork for the establishment of 
PRIN in those countries. The aim is to grow 
and build Pacific innovation in a more 
inclusive, affordable, and sustainable way 
to support SDGs achievements.

MCST (Project Cerulean)
Project Cerulean, a novel undertaking 
to investigate the viability of low-carbon 
inter-island cargo shipping to better 
serve outer island communities in the 
Pacific, has completed phase one from 
May 2019 through December 2020 and 
now has moved to Phase Two. 

This includes two stages with the first 
stage involving the final design of the 
vessel to class specifications laid out by 
Lloyd’s Register and the second stage 
involving the construction of the 41-meter 
wind hybrid vessel and commencement 
of sea trials by a crew. The World Bank-
funded “Registries Assessment and 
Options Technical Assistance Phase II” 
project was completed in 2021. 

One Ocean Hub Project
Team members involved in this project 
collaborated closely with colleagues from 
various universities in the UK, South Africa 
and the Caribbean. However, in April 2021, 
the One Ocean Hub activities planned 
and corresponding budget for the South 
Pacific were significantly reduced due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic. The value of 
the project was reduced from £1,693,954 
(FJD 4.6m) over 4 years to £74,845 for the 
2021/2022 financial year. 

Research Students
Despite financial constraints, the 
Research Office provided the same 
number of postgraduate scholarships 
in 2021, an investment of FJD2,397,330 
from the University. Future efforts are 
being made to increase the number of 
postgraduate students and scholarships.
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International Students
International student recruitment is 
one of the critical tasks of the USP 
International office. The recruitment 
plan for 2021 was revised to include the 
most effective recruitment strategies, 
however, with the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the international office had 
re-evaluated and realigned its strategy 
and established the Global Engagement 
Strategy Committee. 

As a regional University, international 
students foster a diverse cultural 
exchange through local communities, 
providing worldwide recognition to 
the region. The pandemic significantly 
affected global numbers. In comparison 
to 2020, there has been a decrease of 
10%. This has also led to a reduction in 
income of 22% compared to 2020. 

Partnerships
During 2021, we witnessed a significant 
adverse impact on the scope of 
partnerships between the University 
and its key development partners and 
stakeholders. Despite these critical 
impediments, existing partnerships with 
development partners were sustained 
and in certain cases, new engagements 
were fostered to support the University’s 
efforts. 

This has been reflected in the sum of FJD 
42,980,339 received in Development Aid 
for 2021, which comprises FJD 32,618,476 
(inclusive of the $10.5m accrued for 
DFAT partnership funding, which was 
earmarked for 2021, but is expected to 
be received in 2022) in recurrent funding 
and FJD 10,361,863 for project initiatives.

Major Focus in 2022
In 2022, the University will continue to focus its 
research and innovation around five (5) major areas 
of multi-disciplinary activities and one (1) cross-
cutting theme.

USP will increase number of university and industry 
partnerships and collaborations leading to the 
increased quantity and quality of publications that 
will significantly increase citations and increase 
external research income.
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Regional 
Campuses
The regional campuses demonstrate USP’s 
Pacific regional character and ensure that 
all university community members are 
aware of their shared Pacific Islands identity. 
The year 2021 remained a challenging year 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

For most of 2021, Fiji campus-based staff 
worked remotely from home. The USP 
resumed classes on a remote/online 
basis, which continued for most of the 
year. USP’s “routine” campus operations 
across the twelve member countries were 
impacted initially, but within a short space 
of time, business continuity strategies 
and disaster management procedures 
rapidly responded to minimise the initial 
disruption to students. USP can surely be 
proud of its success as a regional university 
that ensured the continuation of its core 
business. Successes for the year include 
holding five regional campus graduation 
ceremonies and an award ceremony for 
the graduates.   

Priority Area 3:
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Regional Campuses have continued 
to grow and currently comprise 
approximately 40% of total EFTS and 
49% Headcount. The Regional Campuses 
offer students the opportunity to study 
in their own country and combine 
work and study, making tertiary study 
accessible and affordable. Programmes 
can be completed at Regional Campuses 
in a variety of modes including, Face-
to-Face, Online, Print & Blended. 
While the majority of regional campus 
students study part-time in flexible 
mode, an increasing number of degree 
programmes are being offered in face-

to-face mode with students organised 
in cohorts completing their entire 
programme at the Regional Campuses.

Regional Campuses continue to strive 
for excellence by courage, agility and 
innovation. Together we have been able to 
provide our students a positive experience 
of the University despite the pandemic. 
Our commitment and engagement 
with Advisory Committee, Student 
Association, Alumni, stakeholders and 
government remains strong and guides 
us to leap in to 2022.

Cook Islands Campus
A Research Coordinator has been recruited and will oversee the activities of 

the Cook Islands Centre for Research and Policy Studies. 

An existing space within the campus was renovated to house the Campus Library. 

 

Dr. Andrew MacKenzie was appointed as Campus Director for Vanuatu 
Campus effective from 9 March 2021.  

A dedicated student support space has been established at the Campus 
that will be used exclusively by Student Learning Support to provide intensive 

tutoring for students in the lead up to the exam period.  

The Fiji Campuses were affected significantly due to the COVID-19 
outbreak as all classes during the year were largely conducted online. 

The Executive Committee of the Council, in its meeting on 13 August 2021 
approved USP Lautoka’s concept paper for the land offer and application for 

lease for campus development in Natabua, Lautoka

The USP Outreach Commons was opened on 19 March 2021 at the Nadi Training 
Centre. The USP Outreach Commons will ensure that learning and teaching continue 
without significant interruption to the students’ progress.  

The Campus Director is working with the Government of Kiribati to expand 
study space at the Campus due to increasing high demand. 

 

Emalus Campus

Fiji Campuses

Kiribati Campus 
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The World Bank-funded Pacific Resilience Programme (PREP) 
implemented by SPC sponsored a Cohort of Certificate IV in Resilience 

(CCA & DRR) with a focus on Coastal Management. This was offered at 
Marshall Is Campus, where thirteen students successfully completed all four 

courses of the programme and graduated in September.

MCST continues to provide technical, legal, and research support to Pacific high 
ambition delegations in regards to IMO GHG emissions reductions negotiations, in 
close communication with Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) Suva Embassy, MoFA 
and support partners at Independent Diplomats, University College London and USP 
Law.

The Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) continues to peruse the PELL grant 
arrangement and WSCUC continuity.

Marshall Islands Campus

Nauru Campus
The Nauru Campus hosted the Vice-Chancellor and President in 2021, 
providing a unique opportunity for the VCP to experience working from a 

regional campus first-hand. Ms. Sarina Tamakin was appointed as Campus 
Director for Nauru Campus effective from 4 January 2021.  

Nauru Campus secured a MOA with Nauru Oceans Resources Inc. (NORI) worth 
AUD 54,000 for a fully-funded Science Scholarship program for high school students 
to study the Pacific TAFE Preliminary/Foundation Science programme starting 2022. 
Nauru Campus also secured an MOU with American Space Embassy programme 
under which the Campus Library can put in proposals to purchase Library equipment 
and resources to the value of USD 7,500 for the benefit of USP students and Library 
users.

  Niue Campus 

The Niue Campus graduation was held on 22 October 2021 during which 
the Niue Premier, Hon. Dalton Tagelagi, was installed as the USP Chancellor 

for one (1) year, effective from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022. 

Former Member of Parliament and Former Minister of Education, Health, Justice, 
Lands, Survey & Community Services & Taoga Niue, Honourable Billy Talagi was 
among the first cohort of the Certificate in Vagahau Niue that graduated in October 
2021. Honourable Billy Talagi is now one of the tutors in the Taoga Niue Course, second 
cohort.

 

Samoa Campus
Dr Fanaafi Aiono-Le Tagaloa was appointed as Campus Director for 

the Samoa Campus effective from 8 March 2021. Dr Tagaloa replaces 
Dr Joeli Veitayaki, seconded from The School of Agriculture, Geography, 

Environment, Ocean and Natural Sciences from 7  September 2019. 

As part of the Conservation Agriculture and Sustainable Intensification Research, the 
Tuki Tonga Forest, a native forest created by the Tongan Students during the COVID-19 
19 Lockdown, is now a part of the Samoan Campus. 

Solomon Islands Campus
Dr. Billy Fitoo was appointed as Campus Director for Solomon Island 

Campus effective from 9 January 2021 for a period of three years (2021-
2024). 

OCACPS and Solomon Islands Campus successfully hosted the ‘Stori Kam’ 
Seminar Series, which allowed local researchers, academics, and artists to share 
information gathered from their various fields of research with students, other 
researchers and academics, and the general public. 



The Solomon Islands Campus continues to pursue collaboration with the Ministry 
of Education for the delivery of the Teacher Training Programme worth over SBD4.5 
million. Under this project, a total of 277 Primary Teachers in Training (TIT) will be 
trained in two venues. 

The actual implementation of Phase 1 of the building of the new Solomon Islands 
Campus commenced on 9 March after delays due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Tokelau Campus
Tokelau students commenced studying online and blended mode from 

the Tokelau Campus as the IT infrastructure was upgraded. Seven students 
have enrolled online through Tokelau Campus for Professional Diploma 

in Legislative Drafting. The Professional Diploma in Legislative Drafting is a 
two-semester programme designed for the novice and the seasoned drafter to 

acquire knowledge in the art and science of legislative drafting.

Tonga Campus
The Institute of Education (IOE) based at the Tongan Campus continued 

to support PacREF in delivering and implementing its programmes. 
Twenty-five students were given the Haʻamonga Awards at Tonga Campus. 

The Haʻamonga Awards, initiated in 2017, recognises students with the 
highest GPA in Semester I from each School.  

Tuvalu Campus
Dr. Olikoni Tanaki was appointed as Campus Director for the Tuvalu 

Campus replacing Dr. Rosiana Lagi, who joined SPACE as Deputy Head of 
School. Throughout 2021, Dr. Olikoni Tanaki operated from Tonga Campus 

as borders remained closed. 

The Tuvalu Minister for Public Works, Trade, Environment, Lands and Disaster, 
Honourable Ampelosa Tehulu commissioned its newly built outdoor classroom in 
March 2021.   

Major Focus in 2022
In 2022, the University will continue to make all 
efforts to strengthen its Campuses’ adaptation, 
learning from the Fiji Campuses experiences to 
COVID-19 challenges. Furthermore, the University 
is committed to ensuring that the Campuses’ 
are well positioned to implement USP’s new 
Strategic Plan through global engagement 
which includes internationalisation of culture, 
increasing the number of international students, 
and strengthening the USP Alumni network and 
potential endowments for the University. 64 USP | Annual Report 2021
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International 
and 
Regional 
Cooperation
USP is actively involved in the region 
through various regionally led initiatives 
with development partners including 
donors and other regional and 
international organisations. USP is an 
integral member of Council of Regional 
Organisations in the Pacific (CROP).

Priority Area 4:
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USP and Development 
Partners 
Our development partnerships were 
sustained, and new engagements were 
fostered in 2021. 

Australia
The University continued to engage with 
Australia to ensure that the mutually 
agreed strategic objectives of the USP-
Australia Partnership Agreement (2019-
2024) are delivered. USP received AUD$14 
million as part of that commitment. 
Under the Partnership Agreement, the 
5th Partnership Group Meeting was held 
virtually on 8 September 2021, where 
strategic matters were discussed. The 
partnership with Australia is scheduled 
for a Mid-Term Review in the first half of 
2022.

New Zealand 

There has been continuous engagement 
between USP and the Government of New 
Zealand through the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade (MFAT). The University 
received NZD 7.8m in 2021 through this 
partnership. In addition, New Zealand 
has supported the USP and University of 
Canterbury joint initiative on Protecting 
our Pacific in a Climate Emergency: 
A Climate and Oceans Assessments 
Project, with financial support to the sum 
of NZD 2,849,773 over the four years (June 
2021–June 2024). Furthermore, MFAT has 
continued to support the University with 
the USP Net Infrastructure Enhancement 

project with financial and technical 
resources. This latter project is expected 
to be completed by June 2022. MFAT also 
provided NZD 429,106.78 in support of the 
PacREF Programme implementation, 
while awaiting the release of the funding 
from Global Partnership for Education 
(GPE). 

The European Union (EU) 
Delegation 

The EU Delegation continued to support 
the University with the implementation 
of Actions supported by the 11th 
European Development Fund (EDF11) 
and Organization of African, Caribbean 
and Pacific States (formerly known as 
Intra-ACP). These actions include the 
Intra-ACP GCCA+ Pacific Adaptation 
Climate Change and Resilience (PACRES); 
Global Climate Change Alliance Plus–
Scaling-up Pacific Adaptation (GCCA+ 
SUPA); the Pacific European Union 
Marine Partnerships (PEUMP) Actions; 
and Transparent and Effective Policies 
and Public Financial Management (PFM). 
These actions are being implemented 
in close collaboration with regional 
partners such as the Pacific Community 
(SPC); Secretariat of the Pacific Regional 
Environment Programme (SPREP); and 
the Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat 
(PIFS), which is also the Regional 
Authorising Office (RAO). 

Japan 

USP worked in close collaboration with 
Japan, through the Embassy of Japan, 
the Japanese International Cooperation 
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Agency (JICA); Japanese Overseas 
Cooperative Association (JOCA) and the 
Japanese Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The 
University implemented the Japan-East 
Asia Network of Exchange for Students 
and Youths (JENESYS) Programme, an 
outcome of the PALM 9 Meeting, which 
is an exchange project initiated by the 
Government of Japan to strengthen 
people-to-people connections among 
the youths in Japan and Southeast Asia. 
The 2020 JENESYS Programme had a 
budget allocation of JPY 91,008,000. 
A total of 9 virtual tours under various 
themes were conducted between the 
period May to September 2021 with 53 
participants from Fiji, PNG, Solomon 
Islands, Samoa, Kiribati, Tonga, and 
Vanuatu. The virtual programme has 
given our Pacific students an opportunity 
to learn about Japan despite border 
closure. With an extension of the JENESYS 
2020 programme from September 2021 
to March 2022, the five remaining virtual 
tours were planned to be delivered in the 
first quarter of 2022. 

The Asian Development Bank 
(ADB)
USP has been working with ADB through 
a soft loan and grant for the construction 
of the new Solomon Islands Campus. It 
has been working in close collaboration 
with the University’s Project Management 
Unit (PIU) in ensuring that the project is 
completed in time. With the China Harbor 
Engineering Company (CHEC) moving 
to site on 30 April 2021, the construction 
of the campus has been initiated. The 

progress as at the end of 2021 was 
around 11% completion rate. Much of the 
construction has been obstructed due 
to lockdowns and closure of boarders 
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the political riots held in Honiara in 
the fourth quarter of the year. ADB is also 
collaborating with the University on the 
PacREF Programme in its capacity as the 
Grant Agent for the Global Partnership 
for Education (GPE). 

USP and Regional 
Engagement 
CROP Engagement
As a member of CROP, USP participated 
in CROP Heads meetings in February, 
June, and October of 2021 to discuss 
matters relating to Forum Leaders’ 
priorities including climate change and 
resilient development. USP updated 
the CROP Heads on ways of revitalising 
the CROP ICT Working Group, including 
elevating the representation from CROP 
to add a high-level perspective and issues 
of digital equity and opportunities to 
strengthen regional coordination and 
action on ICT and digital transformation.  
Furthermore, USP, as the Chair of CROP 
Human Resource Development (HRD) 
Working Group successfully convened 
the virtual Forum Education Ministers 
Meeting in April via the PacREF 
programme.  

Throughout 2021, USP staff and 
students were active participants in the 
development of the 2050 Strategy for 
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Blue Pacific Continent (2050 Strategy). As a CROP agency and a key regional institution, 
contribution by USP staff towards the development of the 2050 Strategy has been 
greatly appreciated by the Forum Officials Committee (FOC) on the 2050 Strategy. 
The valuable insights from staff, mainly from their specific academic backgrounds 
and relevant research, has greatly enhanced the work on the 2050 Strategy.

Pacific	Regional	Education	Framework	(PacREF)	Facilitating	Unit	
(PFU) 
PFU, which is hosted by USP, was able to secure the regional application for an 
Education Sector Implementation Grant (ESPIG) funding from the Global Partnership 
on Education (GPE) to implement the PacREF programme that was approved in 
February 2021. The approved amount of USD14,997,510 has been released to the Asian 
Development Bank as Grant Agent to the funding. USP as one of the Implementing 
Agencies (IAs) has received its first six-monthly tranche of funding from ADB for the 
amount of USD217,346.86 to implement its activities. In addition, MFAT provided a 
direct grant facility to the IAs including to USP in May 2021. Through the direct funding 
facility, USP received NZD217,346.78 from MFAT.

USP for the first time hosted the Forum Education Ministers Meeting (FEdMM) in April 
2021. This is in accordance with the PacREF governance structure agreed to at the 
2018 FEdMM where USP was to host the ministerial meeting. FEdMM is the oversight 
body for the PacREF programme.

Major Focus in 2022

In 2022, the University will further strengthen its partnership with the 
current development partners and forge new relationships. Under USP’s 
new Strategic Plan (2022-2024), the PA 4 has been renamed ‘Regional 
Cooperation through the CROP network’ to refocus USP’s regional 
position as a CROP agency and further enhance USP’s engagement and 
cooperation with key international and regional stakeholders. 
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Governance 
and 
Intelligent 
Use of 
Resources

Priority Area 5:
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a)  Governance 
Chancellorship
The Council appointed the Premier of 
Niue, His Excellency, Honourable Dalton 
Emani Makamau Tagelagi as the 28th 
Chancellor of the University on a one-year 
term from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022. He 
succeeded the President of the Republic 
of Nauru, His Excellency, Honourable 
Lionel Aingimea whose term ended on 
30 June 2021.

The University Council
In 2021, the USP Council held four (4) 
special meetings virtually and two (2) 
ordinary meetings, the 91st Council 
Meeting in July and the 92nd Council 
Meeting in November. The Council 
received, among other submissions, 
reports from the Pro-Chancellor, Vice-
Chancellor and President, the various 
Committees of the Council, and the USP 
Students Association Federal Council. In 
this meeting, the Council also approved 
the University’s Revised Financial Plan 
for 2020. The Council approved that USP 
be declared a Smoke-Free University 
beginning 1 January 2021. 

The Council noted the USP (2019-2021) 
Triennial UGC Mid-term Review Report 
with Management’s updates on key UGC 
recommendations. It also approved the 
2021 Annual Plan comprising the key 
priorities and expected outcomes for 
2021. 

The USP Council approved the proposal 
on the University’s reorganisation which 
was aimed at better positioning the 
University to respond to the financial 
challenges and the ongoing impact of the 
COVID-19. The Reorganisation provided 
the opportunity for the University to 
streamline its operations whilst ensuring 
the quality of its programmes and 
courses. The reorganisation reconfigured 
the three (3) Faculties into six (6) Schools 
for closer interface been the University’s 
delivery of its core mandate with 
Management oversight. 

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted the 
ordinary Council meeting scheduled 
for May 2020 which was cancelled due 
to the first wave of COVID-19. USP held 
committees of Council and Senate 
meetings virtually in response to COVID-19 
restrictions. The major Committees 
of Council meetings for 2021 included 
the Executive, Finance and Resources 
and Audit and Risk Committees 
while the Committees of Senate 

included the Academic Programmes 
and Teaching & Quality Committees. 
 
The Council and Senate Secretariat 
was resourced from mid-2021 with key 
deliverables being met. The following 
pending Committees of Council were 
established: Search Committee for the 
Appointment of the Pro-Chancellor and 
Chair of Council, Ethics Committee, and 
Committee on Dialogue with Fiji on its 
Grant. The work on constituting the 
Joint Committee on the Recruitment 
of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor and 
Vice-President (Education) and Chief 
Operating Officer recommenced in 2021.

USP Commission
In 2021, the following were implemented 
as part of the Commission’s 
Recommendations. Two (2) Committees 
of Council were established: Governance 
and Nominations Committee and 
Remuneration and People Committee. 
Several policies were approved as they 
were needed to set the tone at the top of 
the Univerity. Key policies and documents 
implemented were USP Council Standing 
Orders, Remuneration and Related 
Allownaces & Payments Policy, Equal 
Employment Opportunites Policy and 
various other academinc policies. 

USP Convention
All twelve (12) member-countries of USP 
signed the USP Convention, while nine (9) 
countries had ratified the Convention and 
work continues to have the Convention 
fully ratified. 

Council and Senate Secretariat 
The Council and Senate Secretariat 
was resourced from mid-2021 with the 
secondment of the Secretary to Council 
and reshuffling of existing staff delivered 
on most of the oustanding key outputs 
with improved responsiveness of the 
section.

Records Management 

Content Manager desktop support 
was remotely provided for Emalus, 
Labasa, and Lautoka campuses, along 
with support to Laucala campus’ users 
through USP helpdesk system ensuring 
continual access during the COVID-19 
lockdown period. 

The systematic disposal of ephemera in 
accordance with standing disposal policy 
and regulations were undertaken so as to 
maintain records of value.
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b) Information 
Communications 
Technology (ICT)
During the COVID-19 outbreak in Fiji, 
USP’s ICT sector consolidated its resources 
and re-focused on supporting the Online 
teaching. These included expanding our 
Outreach Commons to the Western side 
of Viti Levu and supporting continuity 
of business for staff who were working 
remotely due to lockdowns to be able to 
access applications and files.

COVID-19 Strategies
The 2021 outbreak of COVID-19 in Fiji and 
associated campus closures required a 
major shift in course delivery, with the 
immediate requirement for all courses 
to be offered remotely. The heavy load of 
online delivery required an immediate 
change in strategy and focus for ITS.

Online Conferencing Services: The 
guiding principle for planning successful 
operations through COVID-19 closures 
was the paramount importance of 
reliable Online Conference Services 
(Zoom, REACT, BIg Blue Button, Skype, 
etc.). The successful deployment of 
these services was essential for all USP 
operations, including learning and 
teaching, research, and administrative 
functions.

Outreach Commons (OC): The lack of 
steady internet connectivity and personal 
computers/laptops prompted USP to 
open another Outreach Commons in 
Nadi, accomodating the Sigatoka - Nadi 
corridor. This would be the third Outreach 
Commons in Fiji. The OC at Hexagon 
covers the Nasinu-Nausori corridor which 
has a high concentration of students, and 
the Walu Bay, Suva OC covers the Suva/
Lami/Navua corridor.

 
Early Warning Reporting System: In 
consultation with the Office of the 
DVC (Education), ITS has successfully 
completed Phase 1 of this system, 
designed to support Academic Units, 
Student Learning Support, Campus 
Directors, and other administrative 
sections in the targeted allocation of 
student support mechanisms for at-
risk students. The first phase of the 
reporting system allows users to easily 
identify at-risk students, based on 
various paramaters including Moodle 
participation, assessment activity, and 
cumulative GPA.

Regional Connectivity
In 2021, the Cook Islands Government 
launched its Submarine cable (Manuatua) 
and USP was able to negotiate with the 
Government and Telecom to connect 
Cook Islands Campus to Submarine 
Cable with a higher bandwidth capacity 
of 100 Mbps connection. This was a 
huge success for ITS as it enabled Cook 
Islands Campus to be connected to the 
submarine cable with a higher capacity.

New Website
Successful Launching of New Website:  
At the culmination of 2 years of a Brand 
New Enhancement Project, the new 
USP Website was launched on the 
30 of August, 2021 The new website 
mitigates a key institutional risk from 
outdated technology vulnerabilities while 
offering modern technology features 
like distributed content management, 
SMART device-friendly formats and key 
social media integration mechanisms.

APTLD Conference
Successful Hosting of APTLD-80/Pacific 
Internet Governance Forum (IGF): After 
almost a year of planning with regional 
conference organisers APTLD and Pacific 
Internet Society for the Pacific Internet 
Governance Forum (IGF), IT Services was 
able to successfully coordinate USP’s 
hosting of the region’s premier ICT for 
Internet Governance Forums which saw 
participation of around 1000 participants 
from around the world. This undertaking 
facilitated at a community level, a valuable 
outreach function of USP’s CROP ICT 
leadership.

Waka	Moana	–	Pacific	Secondary	
School Learning Platform
CROP ICT WG together with IOE and 
UNESCO has been working on the 
development of a regional platform for 
distance and blended learning, a regional 
repository of teaching and learning 
resources and developing the capacity of 
teachers and other education personnel 
across 9 Pacific Island countries (6 to be 
implemented initially).

The project output is a regional open 
source platform for home-based distance 
learning and regional repository of 
curriculum aligned resources for learners 
and teachers in the Pacific, established 
with support from the Global Coalition 
partners.
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New	Unified	Communication	
Telephony System (Webex)
In 2021, USP rolled out CISCO Webex 
at Laucala and across the region. The 
deployment of the soft client CISCO 
Webex has been escalated to facilitate 
Online Call Centres to critical service 
sections like Student Academic Services 
(SAS) and IT Services (ITS), effectively 
allowing staff to assume normal support 
functions from home.

Cloud Services Roadmap - 
Microsoft 365
ITS has progressed deployment of 
Microsoft 365 cloud services, allowing 
users access to its software from 
anywhere, via the internet. This system 
has distinct advantages for the current 
environment, particularly with working 
and learning from home:

 •  Staff and Students will not need to 
have software loaded onto their end 
devices, they use the cloud software 
from wherever they are logged 
in, improving the flexibility for 
staff to work from anywhere with 
an internet connection – thereby 
improving the flexibility of staff to 
work from anywhere on the internet 
despite logistical constraints 
imposed during the pandemic.

 •  The new service provides users with 
essentially 20 times the normal on-
premises storage for emails and 
personal/professional documents.

 •  It also provides the basis for the 
deployment of the next generation 
suite of advanced collaboration 
tools like Microsoft Teams (Online 
Conferencing) and SharePoint 
(Online Sharing).

USPNet iDirect Upgraded
The successful completion of the USPNet 
Satellite iDirect Hub Upgrade on 23 
August, 2021 highlighted the global 
standard competency of ITS team who 
worked intensively with providers iDirect 
over several months to bring this to 
fruition after almost a year of COVID-19-
induced delays. Overall the upgrade saw 
a key deliverable of an increase of overall 
capacity by 60% - in excess of projections 
at 40%.

c) Financial Sustainability  
The University adopts industry 
benchmarks to measure the University’s 
financial performance as a measure of 

its financial viability and sustainability. 
The benchmarks are agreed by the 
Finance and Resource Committee, based 
on widely accepted benchmarks set by 
regulatory bodies that regulate Australian 
and New Zealand universities. 

The benchmarks are a number of financial 
ratios that measure the ability to generate 
operating surpluses, generate sufficient 
cash to meet obligations on time, have 
sufficient cash reserves and establish a 
strong financial position.The ratios are 
broken into two sets, firstly the viability 
ratios, that measure the ability to meet 
short term obligations, and secondly, the 
sustainability ratios, that measure the 
long term survival of the University. Over 
the last five years the University has been 
improving its financial performance 
overall as a portfolio. The viability ratios 
are slightly below targets over the last 5 
years, indicating higher level of financial 
risks in the short term, which need to 
be addressed in the next triennium 
to mitigate threats to the long-term 
financial sustainability of the University. 

The financial liquidity ratios are above 
the benchmark which shows that the 
University is able to meet its short-term 
cash obligations. There were a couple of 
major external eventualities that were 
outside of the University’s control in 
2021. The COVID-19 Pandemic caused 
significant operational and economic 
disruptions as well as governance matters. 
The University had to put in place short-
term measures and strategies to protect 
the financial position within the short to 
medium term, with revenue from major 
income sources down by $27m during 
the year. 

The University had to prioritise learning 
and teaching and suspend major capital 
projects during the year until revenues 
were received. Some of these restrictions 
will continue until there is resolution on 
the receipt of grant from Fiji. The extent 
of the impact of COVID-19 is expected to 
have a rolling effect over the next 3 years. 
The University is regularly monitoring the 
emergent risks.

USP Commercial
2021 was a challenging year for 
Commercial with the COVID-19 crisis at 
Laucala Campus. We limited the impact 
to our normal operations across the whole 
region, whilst still generating profits even 
though Laucala Campus was closed for 
most of the year.
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The USP Book Store has been renovated  
to create a bright and modern space as 
a central Campus store, incorporating 
product lines of books, stationery, 
computers, coffee shop, tenanted sports 
shop, central print room and the relocated 
Unimart. The project was delivered on 
time and within the approved budget in 
February 2021.

Working within Fijian Government 
protocols on COVID-19 the Commercial 
team provided the UniMart service from 
April 2021 to residential students and staff, 
enabling us to maintain a secure and safe 
Campus by limiting movement on and 
off Campus. Additionally, we managed 
to source laptops for USPSA for their 
distribution along with supporting a food 
voucher scheme for students in need. 
 
The Print Shop printed the course 
materials during the COVID-19 crisis 
for the Regional Campuses and Fiji 
and the Book Centre distributed these 
on-time for Semester 2, working with 
the continuous variances of shipping 
and flight schedules. For local Fijian 
students a distribution centre was set 
up outside of the Campus. The Print 
Shop also printed and distributed 
Online Print Packs (OPP) for students. 
 
The Commercial Team, consisting of the 
Halls Management, Book Centre and 
Print Shop have performed far beyond 
the expectation and their efforts resulted 
on a minimal impact of COVID-19 
at Laucala Campus and a minimal 
consequential impact across the Region. 
Additionally, Halls of Residences have 
continued to host over 600 Regional 
students during the pandemic whilst 
international borders were closed, and 
set up quarantine facilities as required. 
Thanks to careful crisis management, 
only thirty students were either COVID-19 
positive or primary contacts throughout 
the crisis. Students were also organised 
to attend two vaccination drives, one 
adjacent to campus and one on campus. 
 
Commercial management also worked 
with local contractors at Laucala Campus 
to refurbish Hall 2, Hall 8 and Catalina 
family flats. The catering facilities have also 
been created for operations from 2022.  
This ensures that there is an excellent 
foundation for Commercial Operations 
moving forward, with improved Halls 
of Residences, the new Campus Store, 
Print Shop and Unimart all meeting the 
strategic plan to better use our resources 
to improve and enhance services.

d) Business Intelligence 
The University Dashboard and Business 
Intelligence System (DIBS) provides up-
to-date metrics on student data and 
student success indicators. This is the 
primary tool for management to get 
diagnostics on admissions, admission 
rates, registrations, enrolment, enrolment 
yield, pass rates, first year retention, 
cohort completion rates and completions; 
and by the different dimensions such 
as campus, type of attendance, gender, 
nationality, age, programme, sponsor, 
mode of study, faculty, school, subject, 
course and so forth.

In response to the Learning and Teaching 
Continuity Team requests to be able to 
view Moodle Student Activity and also at-
risk students, a set of processes have been 
put in place to gather data from Banner 
and Moodle and also to string together 
a set of reports containing information 
of activity and assessment performance. 
This dashboard-style reporting system 
has been developed using Microsoft 
SQ Reports Services, allowing easily 
accessible data to a range of University 
stakeholders.

The University has invested in Cognos 
as a business intelligence tool, that will 
operate on Banner ODS (Operational 
Data Store) and Banner EDW (Enterprise 
Data Warehouse) data repositories. 
Banner ODS/Banner EDW will bring 
together data from all aspects of the 
University’s business. The servers 
targeted to house USP’s ERP Banner 
System and Data Warehouse/ Business 
Intelligence solutions were put in place 
in December 2021. This allowed the 
upgrade works of Oracle Server DBMS 
and Banner migration, that required to 
prelude the works needed for Banner 
ODS/Banner EDW and Cognos. Work on 
Banner ODS/Banner EDW and Cognos is 
planned to resume from June 2022. The 
work on Cognos is coordinated by the 
USP’s Information Technology Services 
(ITS).

Marketing & USP’s Brand Identity 
& Regional Character
The University completed its rebranding 
exercise and launched its new website 
along with the brand guidelines. The new 
robust guideline will ensure consistency 
and visibility of the University. 

To market the University as students’ 
first choice and to promote its diverse 
nature, excellence in research and quality 
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education, we have visualised student and 
alumni testimonials, success stories and 
student experiences. These have been 
shared across the region and globally 
through digital media advertising, which 
includes mainstream social media, 
Google advertisements, websites of 
media partners and advertising on USP’s 
website.

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, all marketing 
events planned for 2021 were converted 
to virtual events, including the University 
Open Day and the Principals and Careers 
Teachers Consultations. Through these 
virtual events, we were able to reach 
out to our member countries in a cost-
effective manner as well.

The regional marketing team has been 
working with the regional campuses to 
promote the University programmes 
in the region via traditional and online 
means. Online and offline materials were 
developed keeping in mind the unique 
nature of each of the campuses. The team 
ensured that materials were translated 
into local languages where vernacular is 
more popular than English, for example 
Bislama in Vanuatu. This was also done 
to target parents and guardians. The 2021 
prospectus concept captured the diverse 
cultural aspect of the University.

An online campaign was also conducted 
on social media to encourage students to 
study from their homes due to lockdowns 
and border restrictions. These flyers were 
posted on the campuses’ social media 
pages. As much as possible, the team 
ensured that flyers included pictures of 
regional students.

e) Human Resources
Human Resources (HR) appointed two 
new HR Professionals to strengthen its 
strategies in 2021 - HR Job Evaluation 
Specialist and a Policy and Data 
Analyst. Both staff have been assisting 
the Executive Director People & 
Workforce Strategy (EDPWS) with the 
HR reorganisation and transformation 
including policy reviews and collaboration 
across the USP region. 

The HR reorganisation commenced 
in April and was completed in August 
as part of the USP Commission’s 
recommendation to strengthen and 
improve HR service delivery. Several HR 
policies were reviewed and developed by 
Commission and the Senior Management 
Team and approved by Council. 
Implementation of these policies has 
resulted in better people management, 

control, efficiency, and streamlining 
of processes. The review of other HR 
management policies is ongoing and is 
expected to be completed by the first 
quarter of 2022.  

Staffing
In 2021, HR continued to partner with the 
Schools and Business units to prioritise 
and facilitate the recruitment of key 
positions during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The major focus was on the strategic 
recruitment of academics and other 
critical senior positions. The recruitment 
of Heads of Schools, Deputy Heads 
of Schools, and key senior roles was 
completed in July 2021.

The USP Fiji campuses were challenged 
in 2021 with staff working remotely 
to deliver the best outcomes for all 
campuses in the region. To mitigate the 
challenges posed by the pandemic, HR 
developed a work plan and a ‘work from 
home’ guideline for all staff to ensure 
business continuity. 

Employee Relations
Apart from dealing with employment 
relations matters, grievances, and 
investigations on staff indiscipline, 
the Employment Relations team has 
been assisting the Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion committee to conduct seminars 
and workshops on sexual harassment, 
anti-bullying, child protection, and 
gender equity to all the USP regional 
campuses including business units. 
This is a mandatory program for all staff 
which will continue in 2022 to ensure 
that staff are aware of their rights and 
responsibilities to maintain a safe 
workplace culture.  

Collective Agreements
In 2021, all Collective Agreements have 
been signed and successfully negotiated 
except for the Cook Islands and the 
Marshall Islands.

HR Information Systems and 
Reporting
The University continued working to 
enhance its HR systems and automation 
to strengthen its control and capacity 
to deliver the best HR outcomes. The 
key focus areas were the design of a 
recruitment automation system, sick 
leave automation, workforce reporting, 
and a HR customer services survey. Work 
on other key projects will continue in 
2022 to improve documentation and 
strengthen systems and processes.  
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f) Alumni Relations and     
    Networks
In 2021, the Alumni Unit’s reporting line 
changed from Strategic Partnerships, 
Advancement and Communications 
to Regional Campuses, Estates, and 
Infrastructure. A Working Group was 
formed comprising of key members of 
the new Regional Campuses, Estates, 
and Infrastructure team. This working 
group provided support to the unit in 
2021, reporting directly to the Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor Regional Campuses, 
Estates and Infrastructure.

The Alumni Unit also worked with 
Australia’s Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade (DFAT) on the alumni 
tracer study of awardees of the Pacific 
Scholarship program.

With COVID-19 restrictions, the Alumni 
Unit focused on supporting Marketing 
and Communications, by providing 
content through testimonials and stories 
that were delivered online through email 
blasts, the website, USP’s various social 
media platforms as well as print and 
visual mediums. This content was integral 
to maintaining the University’s visibility 
and engagement at a time when there 
were physical restrictions and COVID-19 
protocols in place.

Although 2021 was an unusual year, the 
Alumni Unit was still able to work with 
and support the University’s promotion 
of significant international events, such 
as the International Women’s Day (IWD) 
by providing digital content that featured 
thirty female alumni from around the 
region.
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Quality 
Matters
The University is committed to quality 
assurance and quality enhancement 
activities in the delivery of academic 
programmes and support services 
to students. The quality assurance 
processes include registration of USP 
and accreditation and recording of 
USP programmes with the National 
Higher Education Commissions/
Regulators, international accreditation 
and recognition of programmes, external 
review of academic programmes and 
support sections, and institutional 
surveys for student and graduate 
feedback. It is imperative that the 
University meets the requirements 
of the national regulators of higher 
education in its member countries. These 
include registration of the University 
and recognition and accreditation of its 
programmes with the national regulators. 
 
The notable quality milestones for 2021 
are as follows:



77USP | Annual Report 2021

International Rankings 

The USP was ranked by the World 
Universities Real Impact (WURI) Ranking 
on 11 June 2021 when it was awarded a 
ranking of 11 in the Top 50 Area Ranking 
for the category ‘Crisis Management’ 
(Top 50 - Crisis Management | WURI). 
The USP’s submission titled Continuity of 
Education amidst COVID-19 pandemic 
provided details on how it responded 
to COVID-19 in 2020. The WURI Ranking 
evaluates the innovative programmes of 
universities to measure the performance 
of universities in creating real value to 
society and providing opportunities for 
the future in the categories of Industrial 
Application, Entrepreneurial Spirit, Ethical 
Value, Student Mobility and Openness, 
and Crisis Management. 

The University attained international 
ranking by the Times Higher Education 
(THE) World University Rankings 2022 in 
September 2021. The ranking marked a 
milestone achievement for the University 
and is a reflection of the quality of its 
Research, Teaching and International 
Outlook. The USP ranked in the 1001-1200 
category, which places the University 
in the top 10% of the Universities in the 
world*. 

The University has been ranked 
amongst the top 400 for International 
Outlook and the top 500 for Industry 
Income. The ranking for International 
Outlook amongst the top 400 is reflective 
of the University’s position with respect 
to the proportion of international staff 
and students at the University. This 
is indeed very positive given USP’s 
geographical location. The University’s 
ranking for Research Industry Income is 
also noteworthy given the focus world-
wide on delivering real world research. 

  The USP has been ranked in the top 
800 universities (between 601 and 800) 
in the Subject Area Physical Sciences 
and in the top 600 (between 501-600) 
in the Subject Area Social Sciences. 
The ranking in the two Subject Areas are 
further notable achievements for the 
University.

Registration with National 
Higher Education 
Commissions

The University received the final review 
report of its 2020 audit by the Fiji Higher 
Education Commission (FHEC) in June 
2021. The FHEC has granted continuation 
of registration subject to 9 conditions to 
be rectified within a 12 months’ timeline. 
The University is working on addressing 
the recommendations of the review 
and submitted the first progress report 
to FHEC in October 2021. The current 
registration of USP with FHEC is valid up 
to 27 May 2026.

USP received annual renewal 
of registration with the Samoa 
Qualifications Authority and Tonga 
National Qualifications and Accreditation 
Board for the year 2021. The University 
has ongoing registration with the 
Vanuatu Qualifications Authority up to 2 
November 2022.

Accreditation and 
Recording of Programmes 
with National Regulators

  The University has recorded a total 
of sixty-six (66) Bachelors’ degree 
programmes and accredited one (1) 
degree programme, out of a total of 
seventy-one (71) Level 7 Bachelors’ 
degree programmes with FHEC. 

In addition, the University recorded 
sixteen (16) Level 7 Certificate and 
Diploma programmes and one (1) Level 4 
programme in Law in 2021 and submitted 
another 26 programmes for recording in 
July 2021. 

Going forward, the University is working to 
complete the recording of the remainder 
of Level 7 programmes and the Office of 
the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Education)is 
overseeing the outcome and alignment 
development work required for the 
recording of taught postgraduate 
programmes with FHEC, and is on target 
to meet the agreed deadline of December, 
2022. The University is also working on 
accreditation of its programmes with the 
Samoa Qualifications Authority and the 
Vanuatu Qualifications Authority.
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 International Programme 
Accreditations 

The University maintains 30 
internationally accredited programmes, 
18 of which are at Levels 7 to 10 of the 
Fiji Qualifications Framework (FQF). The 
other 12 are from Pacific TAFE. 

  Nine (9) programmes are internationally 
recognised by various international 
agencies. Four (4) of these international 
recognitions are from Pacific TAFE while 
five (5) international recognitions are 
from the USP Schools and at Level 7. 

External Review of 
Academic Programmes and 
Support Sections

  The University is undertaking cycle two 
of the external academic programme 
reviews. The external review of academic 
programmes was put on hold for the 
year 2021 pending the University’s 
work on rationalisation of courses and 
programmes for cost effectiveness. 
Further, the policies for external review 
of academic programmes and support 
sections were reviewed in 2021 as part of 
the policy review process.

The review of academic programmes are 
based on a self-review report compiled 
by the programme/discipline being 
reviewed and an onsite visit or virtual 
consultations by the external review 
panel where the panel consults with 
stakeholders including staff, students, 
alumni, Programme Advisory Committee 
and employers. Support Section reviews 
are similar and aimed at enhancing the 
quality of operations of the University’s 
support sections. The review of Support 
Sections are ear marked to take place 
in 2022, having been deferred due to 
COVID-19 lockdown restrictions in Fiji.
 

Student and Graduate 
Feedback from Institutional 
Surveys 

  The Total Experience Survey (TES) is to 
gauge student perceptions on their 
experience during their undergraduate 
studies at USP. The TES covers only 
undergraduate students. The TES 2021 
response rate was 26%. The TES results 
provide statistics for two important 
Strategic Plan KPIs. The Overall Quality 
of Educational Experience rating at USP 
was 72% in 2021 (80% recorded in 2020) 
while the Overall Student Satisfaction 
with Support Services rating at USP was 
89% in 2021 (90% recorded in 2020).
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The student educational experience 
in 2021 was affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic.  

  The Graduate Destination Survey (GDS) 
provides the University with information 
on graduate employment after 
completion of studies. The GDS reports 
lag one year. The 2020 GDS results 
indicated that overall employment rate 
of USP graduates is 63% (73% recorded in 
2019) whereas the full-time employment 
rate of USP graduates was 51% (62% 
recorded in 2019). Further, the overall 
employment rate of undergraduate 
Bachelor’s degree was 53% (63% recorded 
in 2019) and the full-time employment 
rate of undergraduate Bachelor’s degree 

was 38% (48% recorded in 2019). The 
decreases in graduate employment 
rates were expected due to the COVID-19 
pandemic triggering global economic 
recession and subsequent decline in 
industry recruitment.

  The Course Experience Survey (CES) is an 
online survey whereby undergraduate 
students provide feedback about 
their courses. The CES for Semester 
2, 2021 had an overall response rate of 
approximately 9% with overall quality of 
course rating recorded as 88% (89% in 
Semester 1, 2021). The response rate was 
affected by the complete remote and 
online learning in 2021 due to COVID-19.

Quality Focus in 2022
The focus for quality assurance in 2022 are as follows:

 1.  To maintain the University’s inclusion in the global rankings through submission for 
the Times Higher Education World University Rankings 2022 and also to enter into the 
Times Higher Education Impact Rankings.

 2.  To continue with the review of academic programmes and support sections under the 
revised policies and procedures to enhance the quality of academic programmes and 
strengthen support section operations.

 3.  To continue registration work with the respective National Higher Education 
Commissions, and address the recommendations of the audit by the Fiji Higher 
Education Commission and facilitate of an audit by the Vanuatu Qualifications Authority 
for renewal of USP’s registration.

 4.  To progress on accreditation and recording of programmes with National Higher 
Education Commissions.

 5.  To maintain international accreditations and recognitions.

 6.  To conduct Employer Satisfaction Survey for feedback from employers to help improve 
the quality of USP programmes.

 7.  To devise strategies to improve institutional survey response rates, increase the visibility 
of the institutional survey findings and address key areas identified from surveys to 
improve practice at the institution.

Note:  *There are around 20,000 Universities in the world as per the International Handbook 
of Universities Edition 2021 (UNESCO)
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Financial 
Overview 
and 
Statements
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2021 Financial Overview
The University recorded positive financial results during the year and demonstrated 
its resilience and flexibility despite the disruptions and impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic and the withholding of grant from Fiji. It prioritised learning and teaching 
during the year and ensured that the quality of education was not affected. The 
University responded quickly to the changing environment and implemented cost 
reduction strategies to protect the financial position within the short to medium term. 
It recorded an operating surplus of $11.1m compared to $9.4m projected in the budget 
and compared to $31.1m in the same period last year. The drop in operating surplus 
was driven by decrease in income of 12.2% and drop in expenditures by 1.9%. The net 
assets (net value) also increased by $11.1m during the period, driven by increase in 
assets by 5.1% and offset by increase in liabilities by 4.3%.

Income
The University recorded total income of $165.4m and was 12.2% lower than 2020, 
largely driven by non-receipt of grant from Fiji and timing difference in recognition 
of development assistance revenue (income related to the 2019 financial year 
was recorded as income in 2020). There was also lower income from commercial, 
consultancy and all other income due to the COVID-19 restrictions, offset by increase 
in student fees. 

Fiji’s grant remained on hold from August 2020 and totalled $37.2m as at 31 December 
2021 as per the agreed grant agreements as stipulated in Fiji’s government budgets. 
Fiji has placed conditions on the release of its grant, so the amounts outstanding were 
not recognised as income and receivables during the period. When compared to the 
agreed funding levels as per the funding formula, the total shortfall for the three years 
2019 to 2021 totalled $62.6m.  

Income from tuition fees continues to be the largest source of revenue 
for the University. Tuition fees income increased to 51.5% in 2021 from 
42.5% in 2020, compared to development assistance which decreased to 
26% in 2021 from 28.8% in 2020. Government contributions (6.6%), and all 
other incomes (15.9%) make the other funding sources during the year. 
 
Graph 1: Incomes 2017 – 2021

Expenditure
Total expenditure (including other comprehensive expense) decreased by 1.9% to 
$154.3m in 2021 from $157.3m in 2020. Staff cost dropped by 3.3% during the year and 
remains the largest component of expenditure, it comprises 47.2% of total expenditure, 
compared to 47.9% in 2020. Operating cost dropped by 12.7% during the year and 
comprised 34.7% of total expenditure compared to 39% in 2020. The remaining costs 
are for depreciation and amortisation and comprise 16.9% of expenditure.
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growth in assets of 5.1% offset by increase 
in liabilities by 4.3%. The increase in 
assets were driven by additional cash 
saved from the cost reduction strategies 
while increase in liabilities were due to 
slow settlement of trade creditors and 
slow release of development assistance 
project funds. 

Conclusion and Future 
Outlook
Despite the major disruptions during 
the year, the University was flexible to 
adjust and respond to the changing 
environment. It implemented a number 
of cost reduction strategies to protect 
the financial position within the short to 
medium term. These strategies however 
expose the University to other risks, 
especially with the impacts on quality of 
learning and education of students, the 
level of investments required for its future 
growth, the ability to recruit excellent 
academic staff, and possible impact on 
the morale and performance of staff.  

Despite the uncertain economic outlook, 
the University believes it has sufficient 
resources and flexible to adjust where 
required to maintain its quality of 
education and continue to operate in the 
foreseeable future. 

Kolinio Boila 
Executive Director Finance

Graph 2: Expenditures 2017 – 2021

Staff costs decreased by $2.5m or 3.3% 
to $72.8m, largely caused by slow 
recruitment of vacant academic positions 
(partly due to border closures) and 
moratoriums in place for recruitment of 
non-academic positions. Operating costs 
decreased by $7.8m driven by tighter 
financial controls, savings initiatives and 
deferment of strategic plan activities 
given the uncertainties in the levels of 
income during the period. 

Cash Flow and Financing 
 
The University generated $21.2m of net 
cash flow from operating activities, 
compared to $41.5m in 2020. Overall, 
the cash and cash equivalents position 
showed a net increase of $8.9m, 
compared to a net increase of $25.3m 
achieved in 2020. The increase in cash 
balance was driven by the cost reduction 
strategies and majority of capital 
projects being on hold. 
 
The cash reserve at the end of the year 
was adequate to operate the University 
for 6.5 months, above the required 
period of 2 months. The surplus cash 
reserve is maintained to cushion 
possible impacts of COVID 19 and other 
external factors in 2022. 
 

Financial Position
The University’s net assets totalled 
$205.1m, an increase of $11.1m from 
2020 or 5.7%. The increase was driven by 
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The	University	Of	The	South	Pacific	Financial	Statements	
For The Year Ended 31 December 2021

Statement	By	Appointed	Officers

In our opinion the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of The University of the South Pacific as at 31 December 2021 and of 
its financial performance, its changes in funds and reserves and its cash flows for the 
period then ended.

We are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars included in 
the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate.

Professor Pal Ahluwalia            Ms. Rosalini Moli                      Kolinio Boila

Vice Chancellor & President Acting Chair - Finance and
Resource Committee

Executive Director Finance
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Council of the University of the South Pacific

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

0pinion
We have audited the accompanying 
financial statements of the University of 
the South Pacific (“the University”), which 
comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2021, the 
statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in 
funds and reserves and cash flows for 
the year ended, and notes, comprising 
significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information as set out in 
notes 1 to 31.

In our opinion, the accompanying 
financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the 
University as at 31 December 2021, and of 
its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards {IFRS).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent 
of the University in accordance with 
International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code), and the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Fiji 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - comparative 
information
We draw attention to Note 26(c) to the 
financial statements, which indicates that 
the comparative information presented 
as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2020 and 31 December 2019 was restated. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter.

Other matter
The financial statements of the University 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
and 31 December 2019 were audited 
by another auditor who expressed an 
unmodified opinion on those statements 
on 21 April 2021 and 28 April 2020 
respectively.

Responsibilities of Management 
and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the 
preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance 
with IFRS, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing 
the University’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the University or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the University’s 
financial reporting process.

KPMG a Fiji partn ership. 1s part of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited. a private English company limited by guarantee Document 
classification: KPMG Confidential KPMG Confidential
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 •  Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

 •  Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University’s internal control.

 •  Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

 •  Conclude on the appropriateness 
of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause 
the University to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

 •  Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the 
financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

 •  We communicate with those 
charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our 
audit.

KPMG Suva, Fiji
18 May, 2022
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The	University	Of	The	South	Pacific 
Statement	Of	Profit	Or	Loss	And	Other	Comprehensive	Income 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020

(Restated)*

$ $

Income

Government contributions 4 10,914,447 25,147,754

Student tuition fees 5 85,179,917 80,085,173

Development assistance 6 43,049,072 54,159,526

Commercial income 7(a) 11,587,548 12,874,560

Consultancy income 7(b) 1,493,539 1,685,137

Other income 8     8,731,968 7,734,665

Release of deferred income* 9 3,749,420 3,806,798

Unrealised exchange gain - 1,782,161

Interest income 684,611 1,082,040

Total income from continuing operations 165,390,522 188,357,814

Expenditure

Staff costs 10 72,805,064 75,283,315

Operating costs* 11 53,520,602 61,294,791

Interest expense* 856,563 881,375

Depreciation and amortisation* 17,18,19(a) 13,795,123 14,769,080

Impairment loss on trade and other 
receivables 3(i) 11,655,668 4,651,841

Write down/(up) in value of inventories 12 297,512 46,544

Unrealised exchange loss 789,905 -

Realised exchange loss 146,428 32,551

Total expenditure from continuing 
operations 153,866,865 156,959,497

Surplus for the year 11,523,657 31,398,317

Other comprehensive income

Item that will be reclassified subsequently 
to profit 
or loss: 
Foreign currency translation reserve  

(433,567) (330,216)

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,090,090 31,068,101

The accompanying notes from pages 10 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements.

* Refer note 26(c)
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The	University	Of	The	South	Pacific 
Statement Of Financial Position 
As At 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020 2019
(Restated)* (Restated)*

$ $ $
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents* 15 93,063,452 84,176,658 58,855,072
Investment financial assets 15 22,501,222 20,962,212 22,574,794
Trade and other receivables* 13 25,101,335 11,841,903 15,399,879
Inventories 12 2,661,793 2,460,477 3,615,809
Prepayments 14 2,229,934 2,299,909 2,362,849

145,557,736 121,741,159 102,808,403
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment* 17 231,339,805 235,878,678 234,354,109
Right-of-use assets 19(a) 2,587,957 3,286,042 3,725,409
Intangible assets 18 532,659 827,376 492,498

234,460,421 239,992,096 238,572,016
Total assets 380,018,157 361,733,255 341,380,419

Current liabilities
Creditors and accruals 22 15,939,307 14,202,482 19,424,974
Development assistance (projects) 
unexpended 23 41,907,779 35,046,970 41,597,982

Lease liabilities 19(b) 1,073,102 1,371,736 927,869
Provisions 24 3,865,144 3,777,402 4,016,373
Deferred income* 25 3,749,420 3,806,798 3,672,974
Borrowings 21 582,719 560,883 461,176

67,117,471 58,766,271 70,101,348
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 24 1,236,325 863,862 829,011
Deferred income* 25 89,009,255 91,181,611 93,354,046
Lease liabilities 19(b) 1,684,753 2,074,334 2,887,325
Borrowings* 21 15,912,388 14,866,874 11,338,316

107,842,721 108,986,681 108,408,698
Total Liabilities 174,960,192 167,752,952 178,510,046
Net assets 205,057,965 193,980,303 162,870,373

Represented by:
Funds and reserves
Other contributed equity 26(a) 26,944,762 26,944,762 26,944,762
Endowment capital 15(c) 5,770,651 5,783,078 5,741,249
Retained earnings* 179,059,578 167,535,921 136,137,604
Foreign currency translation reserve 26(b) (6,717,026) (6,283,458) (5,953,242)

205,057,965 193,980,303 162,870,373
The accompanying notes from pages 10 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

* Refer note 26(c)
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The	University	Of	The	South	Pacific 
Statement Of Changes In Funds And Reserves 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

(Restated)*

$ $

Retained earnings

Balance as at 1 January as previously reported 169,913,057 137,139,876

Prior period adjustment* (2,377,136) (1,002,272)

Balance as at 1 January as restated 167,535,921 136,137,604

Surplus for the year 11,523,657 31,398,317

Balance at end of year 179,059,578 167,535,921

Endowment capital

Balance at beginning of year 5,783,078 5,741,249

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) for the year (12,427) 41,829

Balance at end of year 5,770,651 5,783,078

Analysed as:

Endowments – general 94,133 94,133

Endowments – specific 5,676,518 5,688,945

Total endowment capital 5,770,651 5,783,078

Other contributed equity

Balance at beginning and end of year 26,944,762 26,944,762

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of year (6,283,458) (5,953,242)

Other comprehensive income (433,567) (330,216)

Balance at end of year (6,717,025) (6,283,458)

The accompanying notes from pages 10 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements.

* Refer note 26(c)
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The	University	Of	The	South	Pacific 
Statement Of Cash Flows 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2021

Notes

2021 2020 

(Restated)*

$ $

Operating activities

Recurrent activities

Development assistance (recurrent) 27,424,106 32,905,153

Government contributions 4,077,733 32,915,064

Interest received 684,611 1,082,040

Student tuition fees* 72,921,181 79,002,747

Trading activities 10,627,595 13,038,595

Other receipts 12,867,695 8,460,926

128,602,921 167,404,525

Staff costs (67,871,284) (70,359,264)

Other operating costs (43,127,643) (47,089,898)

Interest paid (532,673) (551,750)

(111,531,600) (118,000,912)

Net cash flows provided by recurrent activities* 17,071,321 49,403,613

Project activities

Receipts from development assistance 15,941,788 9,438,107

Personnel costs (4,037,078) (4,851,508)

Other operating costs (7,800,670) (12,504,965)

Net cash flows provided by/(used in) project 
activities 4,104,040 (7,918,366)

Net cash provided by operating activities* 16 21,175,361 41,485,247

Investing activities

Payment for property plant and equipment – General (7,195,341) (13,863,871)

Payment for property plant and equipment – Projects (1,519,686) (1,923,329)

Net receipt (investment in)/from short term deposits (1,539,010) 1,612,580

Net cash used in investing activities (10,254,037) (14,174,620)

Financing activities

Principal repayments of borrowings (561,060) (384,609)

Repayment of principal lease liabilities (1,473,470) (1,604,433)

Net	cash	used	in	financing	activities (2,034,530) (1,989,042)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,886,794 25,321,586

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 84,176,658 58,855,072

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year* 93,063,452 84,176,658

The accompanying notes from pages 10 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
* Refer note 26(c)
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The	University	Of	The	South	Pacific 
Notes To The Financial Statements 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 

1. Reporting Entity
The University of the South Pacific 
was established by Royal Charter of 
the University in 1970. It is a non-profit 
educational institution providing higher 
education to member regional countries, 
with its main operations domiciled in Fiji. 
The registered office is at Laucala Bay 
Campus, Suva, Fiji.

The University is the provider of tertiary 
education in the Pacific region and an 
international centre of excellence for 
teaching, research and consulting on all 
aspects of Pacific life.

These financial statements were 
authorised for issue by the Finance and 
Resource Committee on 18 May 2022. 
 
2.		Significant	Accounting	

Policies
The summary of significant accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently 
applied to the periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

(a.) Reporting period

The financial statements are reported 
for the twelve months from 1 January 
to 31 December 2021.

(b)  Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared 
on the basis of historical costs and 
do not take into account changing 
money values or current valuation of 
non-current assets.

The concepts of accrual method and 
going concern basis of accounting 
are applied. The Finance and 
Investments Committee and officers 
of the University are of the opinion 
that the basis for preparation of the 
accounts is appropriate and that the 
University will be able to continue 
its normal operations in the next 12 
months. The Committee and the 
officers resolved that the classification 

and carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities included in these accounts 
are appropriate.

The University have not early adopted 
any standards, interpretations or 
amendments that have been issued 
that are not yet effective.

(c)  Functional and presentation 
currency
The financial statements are 
presented in Fiji dollars which is the 
University’s functional currency and 
rounded to the nearest dollar. Foreign 
currency amounts in respect of all 
overseas regional campuses of the 
University have been converted to Fiji 
dollars based on note 2(j).

(d)  Statement of compliance
 
The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and their interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). 

(e)  New standards adopted by the 
university

There are no new or amended 
standards or interpretations that have 
been released and not yet adopted 
that are expected to have a significant 
impact on the university.

(f)  Basis of aggregation
The financial statements of the 
overseas regional campuses and the 
book centre are aggregated in the 
University’s financial statements. 
Inter-entity transactions, balances 
and gains/losses on the transactions 
between the University entities are 
eliminated.

(g) Use of estimates and judgments 
 
   The preparation of the financial 

statements in conformity with 
IFRS require management to 
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make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies 
and the reported assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. In particular 
significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgments 
relate to the following:

Note 2(k)(iii) – impairment of   
financial assets at amortised cost 

Note 2(r) – impairment of non-  
financial assets

(h) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured based on the 
consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer. The University 
recognises revenue when it transfers 
control over a product or service to 
a customer. Revenue is presented 
net of value added tax, rebates and 
discounts. 

Revenue is recognised in the 
financial statements for the 
major activities as follows: 

Revenue 
type

Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and 
significant	payment	terms	(if	any)

Government 
contributions

The University treats operating grants received from government 
contributions as revenue in the year of receipt or when entitlement 
to the grant is established. Government grants in respect of capital 
expenditure are recognised initially as deferred revenue when there 
is reasonable assurance that it will be received and the University 
will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. It is then 
recognised in profit or loss as income on a systematic basis over the 
useful life of the acquired asset.

Revenue is measured at the transaction prices (government grants) 
agreed under the government grants agreements.

Student 
tuition fees

This consists of tuition fees for various courses offered by the 
university. The fees are dependent on the type of the courses and 
the level of study. The University recognises student tuition fees as 
income over the course of a semester during which tuition services 
are provided. 

Revenue is measured at the transaction prices as per university fees 
manual. Payment term is 30 days. 

Development 
assistance

Development assistance received for recurrent funding is rec-
ognised on the due date while development assistance received 
with specific end purposes is recognised as revenue when the con-
ditions attached to the assistance have been met and performance 
obligation is satisfied. Until those conditions are met, receipt of de-
velopment assistance funds in advance is accounted for as deferred 
revenue and recognised as a liability. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction prices (donor grants) agreed 
under the development assistance agreements.

Commercial 
activities

Commercial activities represents revenue from book centre, com-
puter shop, residential rentals, fitness centre, bar and ITC car park 
rentals. 
Revenue from commercial operations is recognised at the point of 
sale for goods, or as the service is performed. Services provided re-
late to student accommodation and is recognised over the period of 
the Semester as time passes.
An invoice is raised once the sale is completed or services rendered. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction prices as per the invoice.  
Payment term is 30 days.
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Revenue 
type

Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and 
significant	payment	terms	(if	any)

Commercial 
activities

Development assistance received for recurrent funding is recognised 
on the due date while development assistance received with specific 
end purposes is recognised as revenue when the conditions attached to 
the assistance have been met and performance obligation is satisfied. 
Until those conditions are met, receipt of development assistance funds 
in advance is accounted for as deferred revenue and recognised as a 
liability. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction prices (donor grants) agreed 
under the development assistance agreements. 

Consultancy Consultancy revenue is recognised as the output activity specified in 
the agreement is met. Consultancy services represent revenue earned 
from provision of professional services and project consultancy by 
summarised professionals for other organisations. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction prices agreed under the 
consultancy agreement. Payment term is 30 days.

Other income Other income represents income earned from lab hires, reprint of 
transcripts, reprint of ID cards and other similar services. 
Other income is recognised on receipt except where a department of 
the University has arranged for a University invoice to be raised to a third 
party; the revenue associated with these invoices is recognised when 
the goods/services have been provided.
Revenue is measured at the transaction prices as per university fees 
manual. Payment term is 30 days.

Rental 
income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised as the services 
(rentals) are provided on a straight line basis over the lease term when 
they fall due and represents income earned from renting out the various 
properties held by the University, and is stated net of value added tax. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the lease 
agreement. Payment term is 30 days.

Interest 
income

Interest income represents interest income earned on the term deposits 
based on the maturity and the interest rate and is recognised as income 
as it is accrued. 

Liabilities also includes fees received in advance for tuition fees to be applied upon 
next enrolment or overpayments of tuition fees to be refunded.

(i) Commitment accounting

The University operates a system of 
commitment accounting for its non-
salary expenditure. Expenditure is 
recognised when purchase orders 
are placed and charged against the 
appropriate cost centre. At period 
end all expenditure in respect of 
goods and services not yet received 
or rendered is reversed.

(j)  Foreign currency transactions
  All foreign currency transactions 

during the period have been 
translated to Fijian currency using the 
exchange rate in effect at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities in 
foreign currencies at balance date 
are translated at the exchange rate 
existing at that date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the 
translation at period end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in profit or loss in the 
financial period in which they arise.

Regional campuses
The assets and liabilities of regional 
campuses are translated to Fijian 
dollars using the exchange rate as at 
year end. The income and expenses 
of regional campuses are translated 
to Fijian dollars at average exchange 
rates. Foreign currency differences 
are recognised directly in equity 
in the foreign currency translation 
reserve. The functional currencies of 
the regional campuses are those of 
their respective countries.
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(k) Financial Instruments

Financial assets 
(i) Classification

   The university classifies its financial 
assets in the following measurement 
categories: 

  -    those to be measured 
subsequently at fair value (either 
through profit or loss or through 
OCI), and

  -  those to be measured at 
amortised cost.

The classification depends on the 
university’s business model for 
managing the financial statements 
and the contractual terms of the 
cash flows. The university’s financial 
assets measured at amortised cost 
consist of cash and cash equivalents, 
investment financial assets and 
trade and other receivables.  
 
(ii) Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of 
financial assets are summarised on 
trade-date – the date on which the 
university commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. Financial assets are 
summarised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from them have 
expired or where they have been 
transferred and the university has 
also transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership. 

A financial asset is measured at 
amortised cost if it meets both of 
the following conditions and is not 
designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss:

- it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

Financial assets are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.  

The amortised cost is reduced by 
any impairment losses. Interest 
income, gains/(losses) arising from 
derecognition, foreign exchange 
gains/(losses) and impairment losses 
are summarised in profit or loss.

 (iii) Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises loss 
allowances for expected credit losses 
(ECLs) on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost. 

The University measures loss 
allowances at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL, except for cash and cash 
equivalents and investment financial 
assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk 
of default occurring over the expected 
life of the financial instrument) has 
not increased significantly since initial 
recognition are measured as 12-month 
ECL.

Loss allowances for trade and other 
receivables are always measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECL.

When determining whether the 
credit risk of a financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECL, 
the University considers reasonable 
and supportable information that 
is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative 
information and analysis, based on 
the University’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment 
and including forward-looking 
information.

The University assumes that the credit 
risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due.

 The University considers a financial 
asset to be in default when: 

- the borrower is unlikely to 
pay its credit obligations to 
the University in full, without 
recourse by the University to 
actions such as realising security 
(if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 
90 days past due.
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The University considers a financial 
instrument to have low credit risk 
when its credit risk rating is equivalent 
to the globally understood definition 
of ‘investment grade’. The University 
considers this to be B3 or higher per 
rating agency Moody’s or BBB- or 
higher per rating agency Standard & 
Poor’s.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that 
result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.  12-month ECLs are the 
portion of ECLs that result from 
default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date 
(or a shorter period if the expected 
life of the instrument is less than 12 
months).

The maximum period considered 
when estimating ECLs is the 
maximum contractual period over 
which the University is exposed to 
credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

 ECLs are a probability-weighted 
estimate of credit losses. They are 
measured as follows:

- financial assets that are not 
credit-impaired at the reporting 
date: as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference 
between the cash flows due to 
the entity in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows 
that the University expects to 
receive);

- financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date: 
as the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated 
future cash flows.

ECLs are discounted at the effective 
interest rate of the financial asset.

At balance date, the University assesses 
whether financial assets carried at 
amortised cost are credit-impaired. 
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ 
when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset 
have occurred.

 Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes the following 
observable data:

- the borrower is unlikely to 
pay its credit obligations to 
the University in full, without 
recourse by the University to 
actions such as realising security 
(if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 
90 days past due.

Loss allowances for ECL for financial 
assets measured at amortised cost are 
presented in the statement of financial 
position as a deduction from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.  The 
related impairment provision (reversal 
of impairment provision) is presented 
in a separate line item in the profit or 
loss.

The gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset is written off (either partially or 
in full) to the extent that there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery. This is 
generally the case when the University 
determines that the debtor does 
not have assets or sources of income 
that could generate sufficient cash 
flows to repay the amounts subject 
to the write-off. However, financial 
assets that are written off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities in 
order to comply with the University’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts 
due.

Financial liabilities

(i) Classification and subsequent 
measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as 
subsequently measured at amortised 
costs, except for:

- Financial liabilities arising 
from the transfer of financial 
assets which did not qualify 
for de-recognition, whereby a 
financial liability is summarised 
for the consideration received 
for the transfer. In subsequent 
periods, the university 
summarised any expense 
incurred on the financial 
liability; and

- Financial guarantee contracts 
and loan commitments
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(ii) De-recognition

Financial liabilities are summarised 
when they are extinguished (i.e. 
when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired). The university also 
summarises a financial liability when 
its terms are modified and the cash 
flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different, in which case 
a new financial liability based on 
the modified terms is summarised 
at fair value. On de-recognition of 
a financial liability, the difference 
between the carrying amount 
extinguished and the consideration 
paid (including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
summarised in profit or loss. 

(l) Statement of cash flows

The following are the definitions of 
the terms used in the statement of 
cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand, deposits held with 
banks, deposits held at call with 
banks, other short-term deposits with 
original terms of three months or less 
and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of change in value, and bank 
overdrafts.

(i) Operating activities
  Operating activities include all 

transactions and other events 
that are not investing or financing 
activities.

(ii) Investing activities
  Investing activities are those 

relating to the acquisition, holding 
and disposal of property, plant 
and equipment and investments. 
Investments can include securities 
not falling within the definition of 
cash and cash equivalents.

(iii) Financing activities
  Financing activities are those 

that result in changes in the size 
and composition of the capital 
structure. This includes both 
equity and debt not falling within 
the definition of cash and cash 
equivalents.

(m)  Short term deposits
Term deposits with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed 
maturities of more than three 
months up to twelve months are 
classified short term deposits. After 
initial measurement, these assets 
are measured at amortised cost. 
Interest earned from these assets is 
recognised on an accrual basis.

(n) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment losses. Refer 
to note 2(k)(iii) for accounting policy in 
relation to impairment.

(o) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined on the first-in, first-out 
basis of valuation. Only inventories 
which are purchased and controlled 
centrally have been reported 
within the financial statements. 
Consumables purchased by the 
University for Departmental Use and 
held under the control of individual 
departments have been expensed in 
profit or loss at the time of purchase. 

(p)  Property, plant and equipment 
 
   The policy of the University is 

not to revalue its property, plant 
and equipment. In view of the 
specialised nature and wide 
geographical distribution of 
much of the University’s property 
and equipment, it is considered 
that the costs of any revaluation 
to reflect current values would 
outweigh the benefits to the users 
of these financial statements. The 
value of its property, plant and 
equipment is therefore either their 
value when originally incorporated 
within the University’s statement 
of financial position, or historical 
cost if acquired at a later date, less 
depreciation and impairment.

  Items of property, plant and 
equipment, costing $2,000 or 
more are recognised as assets 
except for computers and air 
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conditioners valued at $1,000 
or more. Items of property,  
plant and equipment costing less 
than $2,000 are expensed directly 
to profit or loss, except for 
computers and air conditioners 
valued more than $1,000 (other 
than where they form part of a 
group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

(i) Depreciation
  Property, plant and equipment, 

including buildings are recorded at 
cost and depreciated on a straight 
line basis over their estimated 
useful lives commencing from the 
time the asset is held and ready for 
use. The estimated useful lives are 
as follows:

  -  Used Motor vehicles and vessels 5 
years.

  - New Motor Vehicles 10 years
 - Buildings 50 years.
  - Equipment, furniture and fittings 

10 years.
 -  Freehold land is not depreciated.

  The depreciation applicable to donated 
assets is offset by a transfer from 
deferred income to profit or loss. 
 
 (ii) Deferred income

  Property, plant and equipment 
acquired with the aid of specific 
grants are capitalised and 
depreciated in accordance with 
the above policy, with the related 
grant being credited to deferred 
income as a liability and released 
to profit or loss over the expected 
useful economic life of the related 
property, plant and equipment. 
The exception to this is when the 
acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment is financed either 
through the University’s own funds, 
donated by member countries or a 
loan or finance lease. 

(q) Intangible assets

 IT software
IT software which is purchased, 
developed, or implemented, is 
recorded at historical cost and is 

amortised over its estimated useful 
life as follows:
- Computer software 5 years

(r) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the 
University’s non-financial assets, 
other than inventories, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset 
or cash-generating unit is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, assets 
that cannot be tested individually are 
grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of 
assets (the “cash-generating unit, or 
CGU”).

An impairment loss is recognised 
if the carrying amount of an asset 
or its CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the units, and 
then to reduce the carrying amounts 
of the other assets in the unit (group 
of units) on a pro rata basis.

(s) Trade creditors and accruals 

Liabilities for trade payables and other 
amounts are carried at amortised 
cost (inclusive of VAT/GST where 
applicable) which is the fair value of 
the consideration to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received 
whether or not billed to the University. 
The University’s repayment term in 
respect of its creditors is 30 days.
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(t) Employee benefits

(i) Short term benefits

Provision is made for employee 
entitlements in respect of salaries 
and wages, annual leave, severance 
allowance and superannuation 
where the University has a legal 
or contractual obligation and is 
calculated as the amount unpaid as 
at reporting date at future expected 
pay rates. All employee benefit related 
provisions, except for severance 
allowance of selected senior 
managers, are classified as a current 
liability. Accrued leave is expected to 
be utilised in the following period.

(ii) Superannuation benefits

The University contributes to a 
number of defined contribution 
superannuation schemes. 
Contributions are made by employees 
and by the University as a percentage 
of salary or specified amounts as 
required by relevant agreements. 
The cost to the University is charged 
as an expense to profit or loss. The 
University’s obligation is limited to 
these contributions.

(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are employee 
benefits that are payable as a 
result of an employee’s decision 
to accept voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for those benefits. This is 
recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss as the obligation arises. 

(u) Leases 

 
As a lessee

The University recognises a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred 
and an estimate of costs to dismantle and 
remove the underlying asset or to restore 

the underlying asset or the site on which 
it is located, less any lease incentives 
received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently 
depreciated using the straight-line 
method from the commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the useful life 
of the right-of-use asset or the end of the 
lease term. The estimated useful lives of 
right-of-use assets are determined on 
the same basis as those of property, plant 
and equipment. In addition, the right-
of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted 
for certain re-measurements of the lease 
liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at 
the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the University’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, 
the University uses its incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease 
are initially measured on a present value 
basis. 

Lease liabilities include the net present 
value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments), less 
any lease incentives receivable

- variable lease payment that are 
based on an index or a rate 

- the exercise price of a purchase 
option if the lessee is reasonably 
certain to exercise that option, 
and

- payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the lessee exercising 
that option.

The University does not have leases 
which contain the amounts expected to 
be payable by the lessee under residual 
value guarantees.

The lease payments are discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease, 
if that rate can be determined, or the 
University’s incremental borrowing rate. 
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Right-of-use assets are measured at cost 
comprising the following:

- the amount of the initial 
measurement of lease liability

- any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date 
less any lease incentives received

- any initial direct costs, and

- restoration costs.

  Payments associated with short-
term leases and leases of low-value 
assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or 
loss. Short-term leases are leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less.

  Cash payments for the principal 
portion of the lease liabilities are 
presented as cash flows from 
financing activities. Cash payments 
for the interest portion are presented 
as cash flows from operating activities, 
consistent with presentation of other 
interest payments. Short-term lease 
payments, payments for leases of 
low-value assets and variable lease 
payments that are not included in the 
measurement of the lease liabilities 
are presented as cash flows from 
operating activities.

Critical judgements in determining rates 
for discounting future lease payments
  Management applied judgment 

in selecting an appropriate rate to 
discount the remaining future lease 
payments when determining lease 
liabilities under IFRS 16.  

  Lease liabilities were measured at the 
present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the 
University’s incremental borrowing 
rate as at 31 December 2021. The 
incremental borrowing rate is the rate 
of interest that the University would 
have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
similar value to the right-of-use asset 
in a similar economic environment.  

As a lessor
  When the University acts as a lessor, 

it determines at lease inception 
whether each lease is a finance lease 
or an operating lease. 

  To classify each lease, the University 
makes an overall assessment 
of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of 
the underlying asset. If this is the case, 
then the lease is a finance lease; If 
not, then it is an operating lease. 

  As part of this assessment, the 
University considers certain indicators 
such as whether the lease is for the 
major part of the economic life of the 
asset.

  If an arrangement contains lease 
and non-lease components, the 
University applies IFRS 15 to allocate 
the consideration in the contract.

  Lease income from operating leases 
where the University is a lessor is 
recognised in rental income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease 
term. The respective leased assets are 
included in the statement of financial 
position based on their nature. 

(v) Borrowings 

  The University classifies non-
derivative financial liabilities into 
borrowings. Such financial liabilities 
are recognised initially at fair 
value less any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method. Other financial liabilities 
comprise loans and borrowings, 
bank overdrafts, and trade and other 
payables.   

  Finance costs comprise interest 
expense on borrowings. Borrowing 
costs that are not directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are 
recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. 

(w) Endowment funds 

  The University has established 
endowment funds for specific 
purposes. The capital amount of 
such funds is maintained at its 
original nominal value. The revenue 
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generated through the investment 
of the capital is used in accordance 
with any conditions imposed by the 
Council, deed, gift or by the terms 
of the endowments or bequests. 
Endowment funds are transferred to 
profit or loss only when it is no longer 
required for the purpose for which 
the fund was originally established.

(x) Income tax

  The University is exempt from income 
tax in accordance with the provision 
of Section 17 of the Fiji Income Tax 
Act.

(y) Value Added Tax (VAT)/Goods and 
Services Tax (GST)

  Revenue, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of 
associated VAT/GST, unless VAT/
GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the tax authority. In this case 
it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or part of the 
expense.

  Receivables and payables are stated 
inclusive of the amount of VAT/
GST, receivable or payable. The net 
amount of VAT/GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the Tax Authority 
is included in other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial 
position.

  Amounts charged to the provision 
account are written off when there is 
no expectation of recovery.

(z) Comparative amounts
  Where the presentation or 

classification of items in the 
financial statements is amended/

reclassified, comparable amounts 
shall also be reclassified unless 
reclassification is impracticable. 

3. Financial Risk Management

The University has exposure to the 
following risks: 

(i) Credit risk
(ii) Liquidity risk and
(ii) Market risk

The overarching policies and 
objectives of the University’s 
treasury management activities 
are defined as being the 
“management and control of 
its cash flows, banking, and 
investment transactions; the 
effective control of risks associated 
with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”.

The Finance and Investments 
Committee reviews and approves 
policies for managing each of 
these risks, which are summarised 
below.

(i) Credit risk
  The maximum exposure to credit 

risk at balance date to recognised 
financial assets, is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions 
for impairment of these assets, 
as disclosed in the statement of 
financial position and notes to the 
financial statements.

  Movement in the allowance for 
impairment losses on trade and 
other receivables is summarised as 
follows: 

$

Beginning balance as at 1 January 2020 19,585,956

Write-offs 4,651,841

Reversal of impairment loss (2,876,329)

Balance as at year ended 31 December 2020 21,361,468

Impairment loss 11,655,668

Write-offs (733,046)

Balance at year end 31 December 2021 32,284,090
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 While cash and cash equivalents 
and held-to-maturity financial 
assets are also subject to 
impairment requirements 
of IFRS 9, any impairment 
loss is deemed immaterial. 
 
The University applies the 
IFRS 9 simplified approach 
to measure expected credit 
losses for receivables. 
 
To measure the expected credit 
losses, receivables have been 
grouped based on shared risk 
characteristics and the days 
past due.  The university uses 
the ‘net flow rate’ model based 
on the probability of receivables 
following the movement of cash 
outstanding from payment status 
of current through all delinquency 
buckets until write off. Loss rates 
are based on historical credit 

losses experienced within this 
year.  These rates are then adjusted 
to reflect current and forward 
looking information based on 
macroeconomic factors and the 
university’s internal evaluation of 
receivables over their expected 
lives.

Trade receivables in relation 
to contributions due from 
governments have been assessed 
individually, and any impairment 
loss is deemed immaterial 
due to short term nature and 
historical lack of default from 
respective governments. 
 
The following table provides 
analysis about the exposure 
to credit risk and expected 
credit losses for trade and other 
receivables except contributions 
due from governments:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Expected 
weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Expected 
weighted 
average 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

$ $ $ $

a.  Trade 
debtors

 1 to 90 days 15% 2,679,458 397,148 20% 2,789,105 545,772

 91 to 180 
days 

100% 798,062 798,062 100% 155,566 155,566

 181 to 365 
days 

100% 428,952 428,953 100% 349,649 349,649

 More than 
365 days 

100% 994,337 994,337 100% 646,537 646,537

Total 4,900,809 2,618,500 3,940,857 1,697,524
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b.  Student 
debtors

Collective 
Assessment

 1 to 90 days 23% 2,546,477 577,633 23% 1,780,382 405,068

 91 to 180 
days 

91% 7,313,176 6,644,817 71% 5,454,988 3,848,544

 181 to 365 
days

100% 5,046,812 5,046,811 100% 3,125,361 3,125,359

 More than 
365 days 

100% 9,272,281 9,272,279 100% 5,756,937 5,756,937

24,178,746 21,541,540 16,117,668 13,135,908

Individual Assessment

Add Government 
Sponsored 

4,974,446 - - -

Less unidentified 
deposits*

(3,800,240) - (2,573,032) -

Total 25,352,952 21,541,540 13,544,636* 13,135,908

c.  Staff 
debtors

 1 to 90 days 95% 55,134 52,271 - 2,695 -   

 91 to 180 
days 

50% 468 234 50% 2,742 1,371

 181 to 365 
days

100% 1,834 1,834 100% 855 855

 More than 
365 days 

100% 11,180 11,180 100% 10,404 10,404

Total 68,616 65,519 16,696 12,630

* Refer note 26(c)
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31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Expected 
weighted 

average 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Expected 
weighted 

average 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

$ $ $ $

d.  VAT/GST 
receivable

 1 to 90 days -   5,926 -   - 5,998 -

 91 to 180 
days

50% 8,598 4,298 50% 17,117 8,559

 181 to 365 
days 

100% 15,944 15,944 100% 15,700 15,700

 More than 
365 days 

100% 3,732,842 3,732,842 100% 3,694,027 3,694,026

Total 3,763,310  3,753,084 3,732,842 3,718,285

e.  Other 
debtors

 1 to 90 days 26% 2,184,596 575,552 7% 3,641,471 257,743

 91 to 180 
days 

97% 626,220 605,642 52% 488,677 252,630

 181 to 365 
days

100% 1,043,523 1,043,523 100% 470,583 470,583

 More than 
365 days 

100% 2,080,730 2,080,730 100% 1,816,164 1,816,164

Individual Assessment

1 to 90 days 10,546,934 - 5,373,043 -

Total 16,482,003 4,305,447 11,789,938 2,797,120

(i) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of financial loss to the University as a result of 
insufficient funds being available to meet its short and long term liabilities. The 
University has creditors and accruals which are all short term and hence have 
been classified as current liabilities in the statement of financial position.
The University manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash 
equivalent balances and borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast 
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities.
Subventions within campuses or from the main Laucala campus to other campuses 
are carried out in order to maintain sufficient cash balances in all campuses for the 
funding of day-to-day operations.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the university’s financial 
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments (principal plus any future 
interest payments).
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31 December 
2021

Carrying 
Amount

$

1 to 3 
months

$

3 to 12 
months

$

1 to 5 
years

$

> 5 years

 
$

Total

 
$

Creditors and 
accruals 15,939,307 7,343,723 8,595,584 - - 15,939,307

Borrowings 16,495,108 95,571 509,623 5,689,767 12,983,842 19,278,803

Lease Liabilities 2,757,855 303,132 909,395 1,676,391 689,462 3,578,380

31 December 
2020

Carrying 
Amount

$

1 to 3 
months

$

3 to 12 
months

$

1 to 5 
years

$

> 5 years

 
$

Total

 
$

Creditors and 
accruals 14,202,482 6,450,033 7,752,449 - - 14,202,482

Borrowings* 15,427,757 90,468 491,783 6,150,596 11,400,626 18,133,473

Lease Liabilities 3,446,070 339,469 1,018,407 2,199,314 803,713 4,360,903
* Refer note 26(c)

(iii) Market risk 

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to risk that the value of a financial commitment, 
recognized asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency 
rates. The University’s foreign currency exchange risk arises primarily from cash 
and cash equivalents, held-to-maturity financial assets, and trade and other 
receivables balances denominated in foreign currencies and transactions for 
receipts and payments settled in foreign currencies or with prices dependent on 
foreign currencies as well as transactions for regional campuses in various currency 
denominations.

The University manages this risk by maintaining off-shore bank accounts in its 
efforts to provide a natural hedge against currency exposures. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity analysis to a reasonably possible 
change in the Australian dollar (AUD), New Zealand dollar (NZD), Japanese Yen 
(JPY), Vanuatu Vatu (VUV) and United States Dollar (USD) exchange rates on the 
University’s surplus, with all other variables held constant:

Increase / 
(decrease) 
in foreign 
exchange rates

Effect on surplus($)

AUD NZD USD JPY VUV TOP

31-Dec-21
10% 3,521,399 1,564,736 427,197 112,299 - 1,494

-10% (3,521,399) (1,564,736) (427,197) (112,299) - (1,494)

31-Dec-20
10% 4,204,101 1,812,480 410,676 203,570 21,948 1,420

-10% (4,204,101) (1,812,480) (410,676) (203,570) (21,948) (1,420)
Interest Rate risk
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Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows 
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
The University’s exposure to the changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 
the investment of surplus cash into a call or held-to-maturity financial assets as well 
as through utilization of bank overdrafts and borrowings.
Investment financial assets are either rolled over at maturity at interest rates applicable 
on roll-over dates, or converted to operational use if the need arises at the time of 
maturity. Interest on bank overdrafts is subject to changes in market interest rates. 
All the borrowings of the University are at fixed rates of interest but are exposed to re-
pricing due to fair value movements.
Long-term investments are not feasible due to the nature of operations within the 
University, therefore, avoiding the risk of a cash flow mismatch or a liquidity shortfall.
Lending Facilities - Debt, Refinancing and Granting Security
The University ensures that its borrowing, private financing and partnership 
arrangements are negotiated, structured, documented and the maturity profile of the 
raised monies managed, with a view to obtaining competitive and favourable terms in 
light of market conditions prevailing at the time.
Prior to entering into or negotiating for any agreement to increase lending facilities 
(including leases) or re-finance the University’s current borrowing arrangements, 
approval from the Finance and Investments Committee (FIC) must be obtained.
In raising capital finance, those with delegated authority will take account of:

(i) the University’s powers and rules and, in particular the University’s Charter, 
Statutes, Regulations and Scheme of Financial Delegations;

(ii) any legal or fiscal statutory restrictions; and
(iii) the terms and covenants of borrowing

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity analysis to a reasonably possible 
change in the interest rates on the University’s surplus, with all other variables held 
constant:

Effect on Surplus

Increase/(Decrease) 
in interest rates

31 December 
2021

$

31 December 2020

$

Financial Assets 1% 36,468 44,013

Term deposits -1% (36,468) (44,013)

Financial Liabilities 1% 3,492 3,544

Borrowings -1% (3,492) (3,544)
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4. Government Contributions

2021

$

2020

$

Cook Islands 147,779 155,849

Fiji -   14,336,709

Kiribati 1,132,658 978,718

Marshall Islands 268,455 288,345

Nauru 123,492 127,259

Niue 60,776 53,652

Samoa 1,407,511 1,429,780

Solomon Islands 3,068,272 3,261,386

Tokelau 42,030 48,094

Tonga 1,382,780 1,364,346

Tuvalu 420,226 449,485

Vanuatu 2,860,468 2,654,131

10,914,447 25,147,754

2021 2020

Government Contributions 
By Category

Student 
Grant 

$

Campus 
Grant 

$

Student 
Grant 

$

Campus 
Grant 

$

Cook Islands 67,689 80,090 75,759 80,090

Fiji -   -   6,264,945 8,071,764

Kiribati 970,175 162,483 816,235 162,483

Marshall Islands 47,888 220,567 67,778 220,567

Nauru 51,590 71,902 55,357 71,902

Niue 11,903 48,873 4,779 48,873

Samoa 537,268 870,243 559,537 870,243

Solomon Islands 2,664,751 403,521 2,857,865 403,521

Tokelau 42,030 -   48,094 -   

Tonga 1,103,360 279,420 1,084,926 279,420

Tuvalu 368,283 51,943 397,542 51,943

Vanuatu 1,670,888 1,189,580 1,464,551 1,189,580

7,535,825 3,378,622 13,697,368 11,450,386
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5. Student Tuition Fees

2021

$

 2020

$

Regional students 67,339,160 59,151,441

International students 1,360,871 1,707,914

68,700,031 60,859,355

Pacific TAFE 13,791,797 16,562,199

Republic of Marshall Islands (RMI) 282,718 189,570

Master of Business Administration 1,985,273 1,699,739

Others 420,098 774,310

85,179,917 80,085,173

5(a) Student Tuition Fees By Sponsors

Private students 38,027,356 32,201,666

Private sponsored      4,556,040 1,559,658

Government sponsored 42,110,559 46,060,220

USP sponsored         485,962 263,629

85,179,917 80,085,173

6. Development Assistance

Australia       
- recurrent 21,384,525 31,091,019

- projects 3,172,112 3,807,255

New Zealand
- recurrent 11,186,114 7,187,177

- projects 314,991 1,045,818

European Union 2,700,601 5,312,972

Japan 708,128 1,194,436

Other partners 3,582,601 4,520,849

43,049,072 54,159,526
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7(a) Commercial Income

2021

$

2020

$

Book centre and computer shop 6,060,617 6,316,592

Residential/Housing rental Income

-Laucala 3,963,183 4,794,906

-Emalus 310,047 533,165

-Alafua 440,062 316,861

10,773,909 11,961,524

Gymnasium and Community Recreation Centre 548,960 601,115

Rental Income 252,955 281,830

Others 11,724 30,091

11,587,548 12,874,560

7(b) Consultancy Income

Professional services and project consultancies 1,187,488 1,372,631

Training and teaching 203,058 183,032

Others 102,993 129,474

1,493,539 1,685,137

8 Other Income

Administration cost recovery 1,120,728 1,159,491

Course material and text book sales       954,105 492,655

Faculty and support units’ income 1,273,507 1,489,687

ITS domain name registration 160,749 163,906

Laboratory income        983,339 1,289,003

Miscellaneous student activities 1,266,109 1,088,462

Other income          1,912,768 1,413,905

Publication sales 418,093 389,691

Remeasurement gain on ADB loan 498,586 -

Insurance proceeds 143,984 247,865

8,731,968 7,734,665
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9 Release Of Deferred Income
 2021

$

 2020 
Restated* 

$

Depreciation and amortisation charge for the period* 13,768,032 14,743,257

Less: charge on items acquired through normal 
operating activities* (10,018,612) (10,936,459)

Release of deferred revenue liability – depreciation* 3,749,420 3,806,798

10 Personnel Costs

 2021

$

 2020

$

Academic and Professional staff 48,676,348 49,245,929

Intermediate and Junior staff 20,957,270 23,347,432

Provision for leave entitlement 87,742 (238,972)

Senior management 3,083,704 2,928,926

72,805,064 75,283,315

Staff numbers (including part-time staff) by category

Academic and professional 685 684

Intermediate and junior staff 866 895

Senior management 11 8

1562 1,587

 

Annualised taxable emoluments for staff paid $100,000 or more

$100,000 - $119,999 54 50

$120,000 - $139,999 27 30

$140,000 - $159,999 13 15

$160,000 - $179,999 13 11

$180,000 - $199,999 3 6

$200,000 - $219,999 1 3

$220,000 - $239,999 1 4

$240,000 - $259,999 5 5

$260,000 - $279,999 2 2

$280,000 - $299,999 0 1

Above $300,000 3 4

122 131
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11 Operating Costs

 2021

$

2020 
Restated* 

$

Cost of sales 5,568,783 3,983,985

Travel and related expenses – University related 439,630 978,548

Travel and related expenses – Projects related 573,163 996,563

Student – research related expenses 5,688,078 7,817,275

Student – support related expenses 1,280,618 1,839,622

Grounds and maintenance     5,476,340 7,776,632

Consultancy expenses 4,131,008 5,530,540

Utilities 3,986,473 4,164,293

Telecommunications 4,397,328 5,728,049

Library books 1,711,588 2,221,626

Staff recruitment and passages 625,842 491,141

Printing and stationery 836,281 1,050,911

Insurance premiums 3,233,637 3,261,090

Computer software and hardware 4,307,525 3,134,276

Workshop expenses 243,769 315,830

Advertising        866,426 987,306

Hospitality / expenditure on meetings 222,444 690,105

Teaching materials 1,107,893 1,433,418

Medical premiums 2,282,442 2,190,337

Rent expense – low value and short term leases 916,193 1,427,625

Equipment purchase 1,235,430 523,826

Freight and courier charges 330,391 580,496

Sub-total   49,461,282 57,123,494

Other items of expenditure* 3,679,252 3,568,755

Fees paid to auditors:

External audit - audit of financial statements 79,000 74,710

Internal audit - audit 119,963 127,500

                      - audit of projects 68,354 293,688

Honorarium:

Council 40,914 50,344

Audit and Risk Committee 32,900 34,018

Finance and Resource Committee 38,937 22,282

Total operating costs 53,520,602 61,294,791
 

* Refer note 26(c)
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12 Inventories
Goods and 

Publication

$

Academic 
Gowns

$

Catering and 
Domestic

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 
2020 2,472,103 1,127,173 16,533 3,615,809

Purchases 2,170,420 - 3,268 2,173,688

Expensed (3,199,776) (66,165) (16,533) (3,282,474)

Impairment charge (42,864) (3,680) - (46,544)

Balance as at 31 
December 2020 1,399,881 1,057,328 3,268 2,460,477

Purchases 2,587,434 187,292 4,512 2,779,238

Expensed (2,175,279) (104,619) (511) (2,280,410)

Impairment charge (297,486) 2,307 (2,333) (297,512)

Balance as at 31 
December 2021 1,514,550 1,142,308 4,935 2,661,793

Analysis of value of inventories 2021                
$

2020                
$

Total cost of inventories 3,540,867 3,041,706

Less: provision for obsolescence (879,074) (581,229)

Cost or valuation at year end 2,661,793 2,460,477

Analysis of goods and publications:

Book centre – inventory 858,489 900,491

Book centre - goods in transit 17,723 97,616

ITS goods 193 200

Regional campuses – books 473,363 610,245

Regional campuses - course materials 929,458 246,986

Institute of Education 55,885 53,074

Institute of Research Extension & Training Agriculture 25,892 39,911

2,361,003 1,948,523

Less: provision for obsolescence (846,453) (548,642)

Cost or valuation at year end 1,514,550 1,399,881
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13 Trade And Other Receivables

Notes 2021                   2020

(Restated)*

$ $

Government contributions 13(a) 6,817,735 178,402

Trade debtors 13(b) 4,900,809 3,940,857

Student debtors* 13(c) 25,352,952 13,544,636

Staff debtors 13(d) 68,616 16,696

VAT / GST receivable 13(e) 3,763,310 3,732,842

Other debtors 13(f) 16,482,003 11,789,938

57,385,425 33,203,371

Less: allowance for impairment losses 3(i) (32,284,090) (21,361,468)

25,101,335 11,841,903

13(a) Contribution due from governments:
Tuvalu 28,288 124,750
Solomon Islands 2,301,204 -
Tonga 345,695 -
Marshall Islands 134,228 -
Kiribati 1,132,658 -
Vanuatu 2,860,468 -
Niue 15,194 53,652

6,817,735 178,402

Overpayments by member countries are classified as payables refer note (22). 
Contributions from Fiji were on hold from August 2020 to December 2021 with 
government grant unpaid at 31 December 2021 of $37.2m (31 December 2020: 
$11.5m). This was not recorded as income and receivable as the conditions imposed 
by the Fiji Government were not met as at 31 December 2021. The total shortfall 
in grant at 31 December 2021 was $62.6m, when comparing the Fiji Government 
approved grant budgeted to the grant approved by the University grant Committee 
(UGC). The $62.6m includes the $37.2m grant payment currently withheld. 

13(b) Trade Debtors

Alafua campus 86,748 155,454

Emalus campus and book centre 173,759 27,544

Tonga campus (IOE) 91,828 142,459

Laucala campus: 

- Commercial 128,912 77,574

- Consultancies, Lab Analysis & Venue Hire 4,419,562 3,537,826

4,900,809 3,940,857

Less: allowance for impairment losses 3(i) (2,618,500) (1,697,524)

2,282,309 2,243,333
* Refer note 26(c)
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13(c) Student Debtors

Notes 2021 2020

(Restated)*

$ $

Alafua 1,802,017 613,161

Emalus 2,984,419 3,311,242

Laucala 15,334,979 5,770,021

Other regional campuses 9,031,777 6,423,244

Less unidentified credits* (3,800,240) (2,573,032)

25,352,952 13,544,636

Less: allowance for impairment losses 3(i) (20,808,382) (10,259,579)

Write off student debts (733,158) (2,876,329)

3,811,412 408,728

13(d) Staff debtors

Regional campuses 68,616 16,696

68,616 16,696

Less: allowance for impairment losses 3(i) (65,519) (12,630)

3,097 4,066

13(e) VAT/GST receivable

Alafua book centre 890,264 859,796

Laucala book centre 2,873,046 2,873,046

3,763,310 3,732,842

Less: allowance for impairment losses       3(i) (3,753,084) (3,718,285)

10,226 14,557

Other debtors

Development assistance partners  (projects) 4,568,215 3,616,755

Development assistance recurrent 10,546,935 5,373,043   

Interest receivable 189,142 184,111

Other debtors (Bonds and Security 
Deposits) 1,177,711 2,616,029

16,482,003 11,789,938

Less: allowance for impairment losses         3(i) (4,305,447) (2,797,120)

12,176,556 8,992,818

* Refer note 26(c)
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14 Prepayments 
2021

 $ 

2020

 $ 

Laucala campus 2,108,396 2,272,877

Laucala book centre 27,544 22,814

Emalus campus 91,810 -

Solomon Islands 2,184 4,218

2,229,934 2,299,909
 
Prepayments relates to payments done in advance (usually annually) for services to 
be provided later, such as staff medical insurance, building insurance and software 
licenses.

15 Cash And Cash Equivalents And Investment Financial Assets  
2021 2020

(Restated)*

$ $

Cash and cash equivalents

- Current accounts* 49,994,638 35,699,558

- Short term deposits (term deposits 3 months or 
less) 43,020,647 48,427,920

- Cash on hand and petty cash 48,167 49,180

93,063,452 84,176,658

Investment	financial	assets	(term	deposits	between	
3 to 12 months) 22,501,222 20,962,212

115,564,674 105,138,870

15(a) Where held:

In Fiji* 33,447,737 37,341,502

With other regional banks 52,540,147 36,474,611

In other overseas accounts 29,576,790 31,322,757

115,564,674 105,138,870

15(b)  The following term deposits are denominated in the following currencies 
but stated in Fijian dollars:

Fijian dollars 9,250,617 2,848,157

Australian dollars 35,213,994 42,041,019

New Zealand dollars 15,647,364 18,124,822

United States Dollars 4,271,969 4,106,757

Japanese yen 1,122,987 2,035,696

Vanuatu Vatu - 219,477

Tonga Pa’anga 14,938 14,204

65,521,869 69,390,132
* Refer note 26(c)
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15(c) Comprising:

2021

$

2020 
(Restated)* 

$

University funds* 67,886,244 64,308,822

Development assistance (projects) unexpended 41,907,779 35,046,970

Endowment funds 5,770,651 5,783,078

115,564,674 105,138,870
 
Development assistance (projects) and Endowment funds are restricted and are not 
available for the University’s recurrent expenditure.

16  Reconciliation of net cash from operating activities to the 
statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	income

2021 2020

(Restated)*

$ $

Surplus for the year 11,523,657 31,398,317

Adjustments to income and expenditure:

Release of deferred revenue* (3,749,420) (3,806,798)

Depreciation and amortisation* 13,795,123 14,769,080

Impairment on trade and other receivables 11,655,668 4,651,841

Provision for leave entitlement 87,742 (238,972)

Write down/(reversal) in value of inventories 297,512 46,544

Net cash from operating activities before changes in 
assets and liabilities 33,610,282 46,820,012

Change in inventories 96,196 1,201,876

Change in accounts receivable* (21,609,019) 1,782,463

Change in prepayments 69,975 62,940

Change in development assistance (projects) 6,860,809 (6,551,012)

Change in creditors 2,580,685 (1,500,816)

Change in foreign currency translation reserve (433,567) (330,216)

Net cash provided by operating activities 21,175,361 41,485,247

* Refer note 26(c)
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Work in progress
Work in progress relates to costs for property-related projects where the project has 
not been completed. The costs will be transferred into respective asset class once all 
major items of expenditure, other than the payment of retention monies, have been 
incurred and the asset is put into service.

Carrying amount of work in progress projects 2021 2020

(Restated)*

 $  $ 

Continuing from prior years

Improve campus infrastructure and developments 3,410,609 3,975,718

IT equipment installation 1,068,164 4,393,171

Lab equipment installation 299,887 1,360,746

Solomon Islands Campus 8,581,202 6,914,892

13,359,862 16,644,527
 

2021 2020

$ $

Reconciliation	of	fixed	assets	to	related	accounts

Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment    231,339,805 235,878,678

Funded by:

Development assistance* 92,758,675 94,988,409 

Other contributed equity 26,944,762 26,944,762

Carrying amount of properties acquired directly or 
through loans:

Statham street campus 3,270,409 3,354,309

Services complex 72,000 76,320

Residential block 568,000 592,000

Student Accommodation (11th Hall) 6,969,124 7,167,610

Kiribati Campus 7,267,463 7,466,361

Solomon Islands Campus - WIP 8,581,202 6,914,892

Carrying amount of assets funded from operating 
activities* 84,908,170 88,374,015

231,339,805 235,878,678

* Refer note 26(c)
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18 Intangible Assets
Cost $

Deemed cost at 1 January 2020 2,559,195

Additions 892,897

Disposals (4,885)

Deemed cost at 31 December 2020 3,447,207

Additions 24,025

Deemed cost at 31 December 2021 3,471,232

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2020 2,066,697

Amortisation 558,018

Disposals (4,884)

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2020 2,619,831

Amortisation 318,742

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2021 2,938,573

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2020 492,498

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2020  827,376 

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 532,659

19 Leases
The University leases land and building for its operations and the term of each land 
and building lease is between five to ninety-nine years. The University also leases 
photocopiers and printers with lease terms of up to five years.

Information about leases for which the University is a lessee is presented below.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to right-of-
use assets: 

Land Building Equipment Total

$ $ $ $

As at 1 January 2020 214,198 3,458,435 52,776 3,725,409

Additions -   46,329 956,283 1,002,612

Depreciation charge for the 
year

(3,491) (1,093,975) (344,513) (1,441,979)

As at 31 December 2020 210,707 2,410,789 664,546 3,286,042

Additions 582,304 582,304

Depreciation charge for the 
year

(3,492) (1,110,598) (166,298) (1,280,389)

Balance as at 31 December 
2021 207,215 1,882,495 498,248 2,587,957
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(b) Lease Liabilities

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position as of period ended 
consist of:

2021 2020

$ $

Current 1,073,102 1,371,736

Non-current 1,684,753 2,074,334

Total lease liabilities 2,757,855 3,446,070
 

The statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to 
leases

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 1,280,389 1,441,979

Interest expense (included in interest expense) 202,951 232,697

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in 
operating costs) 916,193 1,427,625

The statement of cash flows shows the following amount relating to leases:

Repayment of principal lease liabilities 1,473,470 1,604,432
 
Maturity	analysis	–	contractual	undiscounted	cash	flows

Not later than one year 1,212,527 1,357,875

Later than one year but not later than five years 1,676,391 2,199,314

Later than five years 689,462 803,714

Total undiscounted lease commitments 3,578,380 4,360,903

20 Financing Facilities
The University has access to overdraft facilities of $5,000,000 (December 2020: 
$5,000,000) with various banks across the region for which all conditions precedent 
has been met. As at 31 December 2021: nil (December 2020: nil) was utilised.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The 
carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2021 is $93,202,198 
(December 2020: $84,176,658). Investment financial assets as at 31 December 2021 is 
$22,501,222 (December 2020: $20,962,212).
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21 Borrowings

Note 2021

$

2020

Restated*

$

Fiji National Provident Fund Loan (FNPF) 4,094,411 4,446,104

Asian Development Bank Loan (ADB)* 21(i) 12,400,696 10,981,653

16,495,107 15,427,757

Disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows:

Current 582,719 560,883

Non-current 15,912,388 14,866,874

16,495,107 15,427,757

21(i) Finance liabilities revalued during the year

Balance as at 1 January as previously reported   12,464,689 8,781,440

Prior period changes in fair value   (1,483,036) (1,812,661)

Balance as at 1 January as restated   10,981,653 6,968,779

Changes	from	financing	cash	flows  

Proceeds from loans and borrowings   1,620,425 4,091,808

Repayment of borrowings   (209,367) (111,823)

Total	changes	from	financing	cash	flows   1,411,058 3,979,985

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates   182,681 (296,736)

Changes in fair value   (498,586) -

Other changes  

Interest expense   414,478 397,172

Interest paid   (90,588) (67,547)

Total liability-related other changes   7,985 32,889

Balance at 31 December at cost   14,058,428 12,464,689

Net changes in fair value   (1,657,732) (1,483,036)

Balance at 31 December at fair value 12,400,696 10,981,653

The borrowings from ADB have been 
remeasured at fair value being the 
present value of the expected future cash 
flows, discounted using market interest 
rate of 3.3% per annum. The difference 
between the revaluation balance and the 
nominal value of the amount payable has 
been credited to other income (Refer to 
Note 8).

21(a) Fiji National Provident Fund Loan

The University entered into a loan 
agreement of $7.0m with FNPF to 
construct the 11th Hall for student 
accommodation at the Laucala Campus. 
The loan is to be repaid within 15 years 
of the first drawdown with the interest 
rate being fixed at 3.5% for 5 years and 
increased to 5.5% effective from 31 March 
2019. The interest rate at each of the next 
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lot of 5-year intervals will be 0.5% less than 
the 5-year Fiji Infrastructure Bond rate 
applicable at that time. The University 
is in compliance with loan covenants. 
Furthermore, the following is held as 
securities under this loan agreement:

1. First Registered Mortgage and 
Variation on Mortgage on Crown 
Lease Number 13441, Lot 2 on 
S.1483, Muanivatu (pt of) Suva.

2. Insurance cover over the property 
described under paragraph 1 
above, with the Lender’s interest 
noted thereon.

21(b) Asian Development Bank Loan

The University entered into a loan 
agreement with ADB of SDR 2,336,000 to 
construct the Kiribati Campus. The loan 
is to be paid off between December 2020 
and May 2046 with the applicable interest 

rate being 1% during the grace period 
and 1.5% thereafter. In satisfaction of the 
conditions to effectiveness of this loan 
agreement, Republic of Kiribati entered 
into sovereign guarantee agreement 
with ADB to guarantee the performance 
of the University’s obligations. As of 31 
December 2021, SDR 2,157,105 (December 
2020: SDR 2,224,777) had been utilised.

The University entered into another loan 
agreement with ADB of SDR 10,973,000 to 
construct the Solomon Islands Campus. 
The loan is to be paid off between 
December 2024 and June 2048 with the 
applicable interest rate being 1% during 
the grace period and 1.5% thereafter. 
As of 31 December 2021, SDR 2,500,644 
(December 2020: SDR 1,945,784) had 
been utilised.

The University is in compliance with loan 
covenants. 

22 Creditors And Accruals

2021

 $ 

2020

 $ 

Member countries’ contributions received in advance - 197,383

Other creditors and accruals 3,006,003 3,040,304

Research funds 6,473,194 5,831,386

Payroll creditors 2,744,456 2,307,959

Student creditors 528,206 530,951

Student fees received in advance 2,683,816 1,904,283

Trade creditors 503,632 390,216

15,939,307 14,202,482

23 Development Assistance (Projects) Unexpended 
 

2021

 

$ 

2020

Restated

 $

Australia 8,295,831 8,017,686

NZ 7,058,744 5,892,845

EU 8,479,489 4,038,059

Japan 4,821,960 5,538,065

Others 13,251,755 11,560,315

41,907,779 35,046,970
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Development assistance (projects) unexpended funds are from development partners 
and are appropriated for a variety of purposes ranging from research, scholarship, 
community outreach and capital developments.

24 Provisions

Current

Provision for annual leave

Balance at beginning of year 3,777,402 4,016,374

Movement during the year 87,742 (238,972)

Balance at end of year 3,865,144 3,777,402

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date.

Non-current

Provision for severance allowance

Balance at beginning of year 863,862 829,010

Additional provision during the year 372,463 34,852

Balance at end of year 1,236,325 863,862

25 Deferred Income

Balance at beginning of year* 94,988,409 97,027,020

Additions during the year 1,519,686 1,923,329

Release during the year – depreciation* (3,749,420) (3,806,798)

Release during the year - disposals - (155,142)

Balance at end of year 92,758,675 94,988,409

(i) Disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows:

Current* 3,749,420 3,806,798

Non-current* 89,009,255 91,181,611

92,758,675 94,988,409
* Refer to note 26(c)

26 Capital And Reserves

(a)  Other contributed equity

The amount reflects the cost of assets donated by member countries in its capacity 
as the owners of the University. 

(b) Foreign currency translation reserve

This reserve represents the resultant exchange gain/loss arising from the 
translation of all overseas campus balances on aggregation.
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(c) Prior period restatement

There were three (3) prior period adjustments recorded with details as follows:
1. In 2021, the University capitalized a number of assets that were previously 

recorded as WIP but which had been completed and in use in previous years. 
If the capitalisation and corresponding depreciation had been recorded 
correctly in previous years, the impact would be as shown below. For assets 
funded through donor funds, the deferred income recorded was reduced to 
off-set the associated depreciation in the prior years.  

2. Remeasurement of the ADB loan at fair value using the current market interest 
rates as required by International Financial Reporting Standards. 

3. Recognition of lodgments not credited from the bank reconciliation in the prior 
period. These related to unidentified credits in the bank statement that were 
not recorded in the general ledger. The trade and other receivables decreased 
and cash and cash equivalent balances as at 31 December 2020 was increased 
to reflect the recognition of the credits. 

The following table summarises the impacts of these prior period adjustments:

Previously 
reported

Prior period 
adjustments Restated

$ $ $

31 December 2020

Statement	of	financial	position	
(extract)

Cash and cash equivalent 81,603,626 2,573,032 84,176,658

Trade and other receivables 14,414,935 (2,573,032) 11,841,903

Total current assets 121,741,159 - 121,741,159

Property, plant and equipment 240,009,069 (4,130,391) 235,878,678

Total non-current assets 244,122,487 (4,130,391) 239,992,096

Total assets 365,863,646 (4,130,391) 361,733,255

Deferred income – current 3,702,911  103,887 3,806,798

Total current liabilities 58,662,384 103,887 58,766,271

Deferred income – non-current 91,555,717  (374,106) 91,181,611

Borrowings 16,910,793 (1,483,036) 15,427,757

Total non-current liabilities 110,843,823 (1,857,142) 108,986,681

Total liabilities 169,506,207 (1,753,255) 167,752,952

Net assets 196,357,439 (2,377,136) 193,980,303

Retained earnings 169,913,057  (2,377,136) 167,535,921

Total funds and reserves 196,357,439 (2,377,136) 193,980,303
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Previously 
reported

Prior period 
adjustments Restated

$ $ $

31 December 2020

Statement of comprehensive income 
(extract)

Release of deferred income 3,702,911  103,887 3,806,798

Total income from continuing 
operations 188,253,927

103,887
188,357,814

Operating costs 60,852,374 442,417 61,294,791

Interest Expense 551,750 329,625 881,375

Depreciation and amortisation 14,062,371 706,709 14,769,080

Total expenditure from continuing 
operations 155,480,746

1,478,751
156,959,497

Surplus for the year 32,773,181  (1,374,864) 31,398,317

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 32,442,965

 (1,374,864)
31,068,101

Statement	of	cash	flows	(extract)

Student tuitions fees 76,429,715 2,573,032  79,002,747 

Net	cash	flows	provided	by	recurring	
activities 46,830,581

2,573,032  49,403,613 

Net cash provided by operating 
activities 38,912,215

2,573,032  41,485,247 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 81,603,626

2,573,032  84,176,658 

31 December 2019

Statement	of	financial	position	
(extract)

Property, plant and equipment 237,335,372  (2,981,263) 234,354,109

Total non-current assets 241,553,279 (2,981,263) 238,572,016

Total assets 344,361,682 (2,981,263) 341,380,419

Deferred income – current 3,598,411  74,563 3,672,974

Total current liabilities 70,026,785 74,563 70,101,348

Deferred income – non-current 93,594,940  (240,894) 93,354,046

Borrowings 13,612,153 (1,812,661) 11,799,492

Total non-current liabilities 110,462,253 (2,053,555) 108,408,698

Total liabilities 180,489,038 (1,978,992) 178,510,046

Net assets 163,872,645 (1,002,272) 162,870,373

Retained earnings 137,139,876  (1,002,272) 136,137,604

Total funds and reserves 163,872,645 (1,002,272) 162,870,373
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27 Commitments
In addition to the amounts reported in the financial statements, the University has 
capital commitments of $7,862,548 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 
$16,891,234) for various projects not yet started and asset purchases for which the 
items had not been received or paid for. This balance has not been recognised as a 
liability at balance date.

28 Contingent Assets And Liabilities
2021 2020

$ $

Contingent liabilities

Fiji Electricity Authority - guarantees given 158,857 158,857

 FRCA - customs bond - guarantees given 31,000 31,000

Government Tender Board 16,598 16,598

Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport - guarantees 
given 743,963 743,963

Ministry of Fisheries and Forest - guarantees given 151,956 151,956

VAT on contributions received from Fijian government 
(1992 - 2007) 39,802,087 39,802,087

40,904,461 40,904,461

Contingent assets

VAT on Fijian government contributions (1992 - 2007) 39,802,087 39,802,087

Insurance claim for Communication Building Fire (b) 8,339,732 8,339,732

48,141,819 48,141,819
 

(a) The Fiji Revenue Customs Services (FRCS) advised in a letter dated June 2007 
that the University may be liable to pay VAT on contributions received from 
the Government of Fiji since 1992. The University had made an effort in 2009 to 
close the matter with FRCS, but no reply or any formal assessment has been 
issued by FRCS since the University’s last communication dated 20 October 
2009. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in the financial 
statements.

The University claims Government contributions on a VAT exclusive basis. In 
the event that the tax liability is considered probable, the University would 
make a claim for the short fall in payment of contributions and recognise a 
receivable amount to the value of the potential tax liability.

(b) The Communication buildings that was destroyed by fire in November 2018 
was insured for $20m however, on a letter dated 2 September, 2020 to the 
University by QBE Insurance (Fiji) Limited, they had confirmed the costs of 
repairs as calculated by Quantec quantity surveyors to be $8,339,732 which may 
change depending on the market at the time of agreement. The University 
however has not yet agreed to this amount.  To date $2m has been received by 
the University as part of the business interruption clause and was recognized 
as insurance proceeds income accordingly.
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Legal claim contingency

There are various legal claims and trade disputes pending against the 
University as at balance date. The University considers these claims, arising in 
the normal course of business, to be immaterial and mostly spurious except for 
cases of defamation that may arise due to the leak of special BDO audit report 
in the social media and deportation of the Vice Chancellor and President. No 
amounts have been provided in relation to any of these matters including the 
possible cases of defamation as the university or the solicitors at this stage are 
unable to estimate related costs or settlement value (if applicable).

29 Related Parties
The University is controlled by 12 member countries comprising Fiji, Tuvalu, Tonga, 
Solomon Islands, Samoa, Republic of Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, Cook Islands, 
Vanuatu, Kiribati and Tokelau. Details of grant received, grant receivable and grant 
received in advance during the year is as follows:

2021                     

 $  

2020

 $ 

Government contribution income 10,914,447 25,147,754

Government contribution receivable 6,817,735 178,402

Government contribution in advance - 197,382
 
 
Key management personnel disclosures
(a) Names of responsible persons and senior management team

The following were responsible persons and the senior management team of 
the University during the period.

All members of the University council were appointed or elected under the 
provisions of the University Charter. Council members include the University 
employees who may be ex-official members or elected staff members.

(i) University Council Members

Dr Hilda Heine, Pro-Chancellor & Chair of Council (from 1st January 2022)
Mr Winston Thompson, Pro-Chancellor & Chair of Council (up to 31 December 2021)
Professor Pat Walsh, Deputy Pro-Chancellor & Deputy Chair of Council and 
Government Representative, New Zealand
Professor Pal Ahluwalia, Vice-Chancellor & President 
Dr. Giulio Paunga, Vice President (Regional Campuses, Estates and Infrastructure) 
and Acting Vice-Chancellor & President (from 3 February 2021 to 8 August 2021)
Hon Vaine Mokoroa, Minister for Education, Cook Islands 
Hon. Kitlang Kabua, Minister for Education, Sports & Training, Marshall Islands
H.E. Lionel Aingimea, President & Minister for Education, Nauru 
Hon. Sauni Tongatule, Minister for Education, Niue
Hon. Kelihiano Kalolo, Minister for Education, Tokelau
Hon. Lanelle Tanangada, Minister for Education & Human Resources Development, 
Solomon Is. 
Hon. Alexander Teabo, Minister for Education, Kiribati 
Hon. Samson Samsen, Minister for Education & Training, Vanuatu
Hon. Timi Melei, Minister for Education Youth and Sports, Tuvalu 
Hon. Siaosi ‘Ofa Ki Vahafolau Sovaleni, Minister for Education & Training, Tonga 
Hon. Loau Keneti Sio, Minister for Education, Sports & Culture, Samoa 
Mr. Leiataua Henry Ah Ching, Acting Chief Executive Officer, Ministry of Finance, 
Samoa 
Hon. Premila Kumar, Minister for Education, Heritage & Arts, Fiji 
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Dr Anjeela Jokhan, Permanent Secretary for Education, Heritage & Arts, Fiji 
Mr Shiri Gounder, Permanent Secretary for Economy, Fiji 
Ms Fay Yee, Government Representative, Fiji 
Mr. Mahmood Khan, Government Representative, Fiji 
Professor Caroline McMillen, Government Representative, Australia, and Acting Chair 
of the Audit & Risk Committee
Mr Henry Puna, Secretary General, Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat
Professor Elisabeth Holland, Senate Representative 
Professor Sushil Kumar, Senate Representative 
Mr. Mani Mate, USPSA, Student Rep
Mr. Lepani Naqarase, USPSA, Student Rep
Ms Aloma-Johansson, Co-opted member and Chair of the Finance & Investments 
Committee
Ms Petunia Tupou, Co-opted member 
Mr Semi Tukana, Fiji, Co-opted member

(ii) Senior management team

Professor Pal Ahluwalia, Vice-Chancellor and President
Dr. Giulio Paunga, Vice President (Regional Campuses, Estates and Infrastructure) 
and Acting Vice-Chancellor & President (from 3 February 2021 to 8 August 2021)
Professor Jito Vanualailai, Acting Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Education)
Mr. Kolinio Boila, Executive Director Finance
Mr. Jone Maritino Nemani, Executive Director, People and Workforce Strategy 
Dr. Nacaneili Rika, Acting Head of School of Accounting, Finance & Economics (SAFE)
Professor Gurmeet Singh, Head of School of Business and Management (SBM)
Professor Maurizio Cirrincione, Head of School of Information Technology, 
Engineering, Mathematics & Physics (STEMP)
Professor Surendra Prasad, Head of School of Agriculture, Geography, Environment, 
Ocean & Natural Sciences (SAGEONS)
Associate Professor Sandra Tarte, Acting Head of School of Law and Social Sciences 
(SoLaSS)
Professor Sudesh Mishra, Head of School of Pacific Arts, Communication and 
Education (SPACE)

(b) Remuneration of Council Members and Senior Management Team

2021 2020

Annual remuneration of Council members

$10,000 - $19,999 3 3

$20,000 - $29,999 1 1

Annual remuneration of Senior management team

$100,000 - $119,999 - 1

$120,000 - $159,999 1 1

$160,000 - $199,999 2 2

$200,000 - $239,999 1 1

$240,000 - $259,999 3 2

$260,000 - $279,999 1 -

$280,000 - $299,999 - 1

Above $300,000 3 3

11 11
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Council members paid by the University are in the form of honorarium only.

The above number of Senior Management Team includes those that have either 
joined or left the University (or Senior Management Team) during the year and their 
expected total annual remuneration for the respective period exceeds $100,000.

The University is not aware of any material transactions that may have been conducted 
with Council members of the University.  Transactions are at arm’s length and on terms 
and conditions no more favourable than those which it is expected the University 
would have adopted for a normal employee, customer or supplier relationship.

(c)  Key management personnel compensation

2021 2020

 $  $ 

Short term employee benefits 3,083,704 2,928,926

3,083,704 2,928,926

30 Impact Of External Eventualities 
The World Health Organisation declared a pandemic in relation to the Novel 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) on 11 March 2020 and the outbreak has already surfaced in Fiji. 
This outbreak is causing unprecedented social disruption, and global economic and 
financial markets volatility.

For the University, the COVID 19 pandemic has affected the three main sources of 
funding in 2021 and is expected to continue to affect the budget for at least the next 
two to three years. The University will have to make rationale strategic and operational 
decisions in order to protect its short-term viability and remain solvent.

Fiji government reduced its grant contributions due to the impact of COVID 19 and 
is currently withholding its grant of $11.5m for 2020 and $25.7m for 2021 due to the 
introduction of new conditions. The total shortfall in grant at 31 December 2021 was 
$62.6m, when comparing the Fiji Government approved grant budgeted to the grant 
approved by the University grant Committee (UGC). The $62.6m includes the $37.2m 
grant payment currently withheld. Council is working to resolve the matter with the 
Fiji Government.

Management has carried out cash flow forecasts for the current financial year and 
have stress tested the same using different scenarios, including a severe or worst-case 
scenario. As part of their assessment, they have also considered the cash reserves, 
unutilised credit facilities as well as interest rate relief provided by the lenders.

The financial results for the year indicate that the financial position remains strong 
and there is a reasonable expectation that the University has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the University 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

On 3 February 2021, Professor Pal Ahluwalia, Vice-Chancellor and President (VC&P) 
was deported from Fiji by the Fiji Government, Immigration Department. He was re-
engaged and commenced a new contract on 9 August 2021. Any possible financial 
impact of this decision is sufficiently captured in the worst case scenarios explained 
in Note 30 above.

31 Events Subsequent To Period End
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the year and the date of this 
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect 
significantly the operations of the University, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the University in subsequent periods.
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